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P R O C E E D I N G S

MR. PRESIDENT:

Good morning everybody.  Court is in session.  

Appearances as before.  

Mr. Black is not present today.  

Yes, Mr. St‑Laurent, you can start. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Mr. President, Witness DE‑8‑20, should have been testifying this morning.  He arrived late last night.  So what I would like to suggest is that we begin examining Mr. Bizimungu and tomorrow morning, we shall listen ‑‑ we shall hear the other witness, and then we shall proceed with the examination of 
Mr. Bizimungu.  So with your leave, I would like to call Mr. Bizimungu to take the stand, please.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Counsel, I think we will continue with Mr. Bizimungu and once we finish with Mr. Bizimungu, we will take DE‑8-20.  He is the man who wants to stay in the hotel? 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Yes.  Well, thanks to you, he is residing in a hotel, Mr. President.  But I would suggest that we listen to the testimony of Mr. Bizimungu now and then we free a few hours tomorrow morning with a view to listening to DE‑8‑20’s testimony.  Thank you.  

MR. VAN: 

Good morning, Mr. President, Your Honours.  We have once again been ambushed.  Mr. Tambadou who is in charge of examining (sic) Mr. Bizimungu is not aware of this change and he is still preparing for it.  And as you can see, he is not present.  So, Mr. President, I would suggest that we adjourn and that this witness, DE‑8‑20, who is here tomorrow and that he testify tomorrow morning, and that he bring his testimony to an end, and then we commence with Mr. Bizimungu because to my mind this is rather disorderly to commence with one witness, to stop, to take on another witness and finish with him, and then commence anew with that initial witness.  I do not believe that this is a proper manner to proceed, Mr. Witness ‑‑ Mr. President, and we have been taken by surprise. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, I think you can get Mr. Tambadou to listen to Mr. Bizimungu.  Listening, only firstly listening, that`s all.  

Yes, you may call Mr. Tambadou. 

MR. VAN: 

He is not here.  Mr. President, in these conditions, I would suggest that you give me five minutes for me to go and fetch him, because he can't listen unless he is in the courtroom.  He is not a magician, you know.  So you give me five minutes, I shall just go and get him. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

He must be listening to the proceedings from the TV.  He will come here immediately, I think.  

MR. VAN: 

He does not have a television. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Okay, we will give you five minutes.  

Court is adjourned for five minutes.  
(Court recessed from 0910H to 0920H) 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Court has resumed.  

Registrar, administer an oath to Mr. Bizimungu.  
(Declaration taken by Accused Augustin Bizimungu in French)


AUGUSTIN BIZIMUNGU 
first having been duly sworn,
testified as follows:

EXAMINATION‑IN‑CHIEF
BY MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Q.
Good morning, General Bizimungu. 

A.
Thank you, Counsel, same to you. 

Q.
We shall firstly make sure and take the correct resolutions so that the interpreters and the 

court reporters have the time to both interpret and write what we are saying.  Now, in view of the fact, General Bizimungu that we will both be speaking in the same language, we shall have to be very careful, indeed, in order to make sure that we speak at a leisurely pace.  Now we have been hearing these comments from the part of the President for the last three years or so now, asking us to slow.  Now, we shall both make an effort, shall we not, in order to make sure that we go at the correct speeds.

General Bizimungu, I would like first of all, for you to provide us with an overview of your training of your education.  I am sorry, Mr. Bizimungu I shall repeat my question.  Could you please provide us with an overview of your education? 

A.
I shall first tell you where I was born.  I was born in Byumba in Mukarange, in August 1952 ‑‑ in 1959, in 1959.  I started primary school very close to my home and I finished primary school at Rushaki parish.  And I will say in passing that the witness who testified yesterday was a year behind me.  And when I repeated the year, we spent the year together.  But when I went into secondary school, I left her in a top class at primary and then she joined me.  So, I was in secondary school in 1966 ‑‑ yes, thank you.  I went to primary ‑‑ in secondary school in 1966 in Byumba where I spent three years.  At this time ‑‑ at the time this was called "the common stream".  Now, I was in Musange in Ruhengeri after that, where I spent three further years in order to complete my studies in modern humanities and I obtained my diploma in this area.  I then put myself forward as a voluntary candidate to the École militaire superieur from `72 to 1974.  And in 1974 I ended my training as second lieutenant.  I then went to the training school in Bigogwe, a commando training school, and after having spent a month there, I was sent to Belgium, to Marche les Dames to the commando training centre, Marche les Dames. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Bizimungu, please follow this lady.  She is taking down everything from your mouth.  So please follow her and she will give you the signal to slow down.  

Yes, please continue. 

THE WITNESS:

Very well, I shall try and do so, Mr. President.  

As I was saying in 1974, at the end of August, I was sent to Belgium with a view to doing an internship, a commando internship, with a view to becoming an instructor.  And I went to the Marche les Dames commando instructor training centre at Namur where I followed a number of training sessions at different levels.  I started with the brevet de commando. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Mr. President, the witness will have to slow down, otherwise interpreting and court reporting is impossible. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Bizimungu, reporters and the interpreters say, you are a little too fast.  

THE WITNESS: 
Okay. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 
You take time to tell out everything you have to say, but take your time.  Help them to record what you say accurately. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
In fact, Mr. Bizimungu, please speak at the same speed that you have gotten me used to over the last three years.  

A.
Yes, Counsel, it is true I have been speaking at different speeds and I shall try and slow down.  Now, where shall I start to repeat from because I don’t quite know what you did grasp?  

Can I carry on?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

I think you said in 1974, that you were sent to Belgium for training to instruct commandoes.  You can start from there. 

THE WITNESS:

So at the end of January 1975, I went back to Rwanda.  And I went back to the Bigogwe commando training centre.  I would like to remind you that the Bigogwe commando training centre ‑‑ Bigogwe, I shall spell that for you.  B‑I‑G‑O‑G‑W‑E, Bigogwe.  The commando training centre in Bigogwe at that moment in time was headed up by a Belgian officer.  And there were officers and non‑commissioned officers of Belgian origin there.  Military cooperation between Rwanda and Belgian also included the Bigogwe commando training centre.  

When I went back to my country, I did not become a commando instructor immediately despite the fact that I had obtained my diploma in Belgium.  I did not, however, have my commando diploma in Rwanda.  So when I went home, when I was on holiday at home, a jeep came to pick me up and said that Bigogwe, commando training centre was waiting for me.  I then put a stop to my holiday, I went to Bigogwe and I was told that there was a session for the commando ‑‑ a diploma that was about to commence and that I was part of this training session in order to have full training and commence my commando career.  

From March to June 1975, I followed the training for the diploma, the `A’ diploma in commando training in Bigogwe and then I was accepted as a commando instructor and I started to work at this very centre as an instructor.  Now, that is my training.  Now, in 1980 I went on internship to Belgium with a view to visiting a number of units.  I was in a team of four officers.  And this was a period to the preparation that I was about to follow from the year 1982.  And from 1982 to 1984, I was designated to follow the 
chief of staff training (sic) at the defence education training centre.  In 1984, I came out with a diploma in chief of staff.  When I received this diploma of chief of staff, our wives also were given diplomas because they, at the same time were married to -- the wives, if you like, to those who had just been ‑‑ who had just received their diplomas.  Now, that is my training in brief. 

Q.
What I would like us to do now is to talk about the various positions that you held after the completion of your training in Rwandan.  And very briefly, we will discuss certain of those positions. 

A.
I have already stated about the beginning of my career in Bigogwe and I will proceed from the time that I returned from my training at the higher Royal Defence Institute.  Upon my return in August `83 ‑‑ `84, I was appointed S‑2, S‑3 of the para‑commando battalion in Kanombe.  In January 1985, I learnt through a telegram that I had been transferred to Gako, and Gako is spelt G‑A‑K‑O, and that is in the Bugesera region.  I was appointed commander of the Bugesera training centre.  Bugesera is spelt B‑U‑G‑E‑S‑E‑R‑A.  From January 1985 to March 1988, I was the commander of that prestigious centre, because that centre was very prestigious within the army.  It was a basic training centre of great importance.  In March 1988, once again through a telegram while I was carrying out exercises somewhere, I was told that I was no longer commander of that training centre, but commander of the para‑commando battalion in Ruhengeri.  I travelled to Ruhengeri and initially that battalion was based in camp Muhoza in Ruhengeri town.  At that time that camp was not known as camp Muhoza.  It only became camp Muhoza later, so I started living in Ruhengeri town.  But at the same time construction work had just been completed in Mukamira camp.  It had started 7 or 8 years before.  This was a large camp and the Ruhengeri para‑commando battalion had to be based there.  So I started moving in the Ruhengeri para‑commando battalion to the new camp in 1989.  And I am saying this because the former Ruhengeri battalion had to be completely restructured, based on the mission assigned to me by the chief of staff.  That is to train ‑‑ to put in place a battalion commensurate with its level, so we wanted new blood.  I had to raise the level of that battalion, and I was in the process of doing so when the RPF invaded the country from Uganda at the beginning of the invasion on the 1st of October in 1990.  

In January and precisely during the night of the 27th to the 28th of January, I was informed that I had been appointed the commander of the Ruhengeri ops secteur.  On the 16th of April I learnt that I had been appointed as chief of staff of the Rwandan Armed Forces, perhaps we will come back to the other positions later. 

Q.
Thank you.  And now moving to the various ranks that were given to you during your career, can you tell us about them, Mr. Bizimungu? 

A.
After my graduation from the military academy in July 1974, I was appointed second lieutenant.  Three years thereafter, that is 1977, I was promoted to lieutenant.  In 1980, I became a captain.  In 1983, while I was in Belgian, I was appointed major.  In `87 or rather in `91, I was appointed lieutenant colonel.  In 1993, and specifically on the 30th of December 1993, while the high command council of the army was being set up ‑‑ and this was an institution that was going to administer the new army coming from the Arusha Accords.  I was promoted to colonel, and in April, at the same time as I was appointed chief of staff, I was also promoted to major general. 

Q.
Very well.  In reference to one of your appointments, you said that once again, I received that appointment through a telegram.  Now, tell this Trial Chamber, how were you informed of your appointments in Rwanda? 

A.
I am sorry, Counsel, I do not fully understand what you are referring to.  Appointments to ranks or to positions or specific duties?  

Q.
Very well.  Regarding the positions to which you were appointed, how were you informed about those? 

A.
I was never consulted before being transferred to any position. 

Q.
Very well.  A short while ago you were talking about the army high command, and the fact that you were appointed as a member of that command.  Were there any other appointments during your military career, that is apart from those that you have mentioned?  Were you ever appointed to any posts or to carry out any other specific duties in Rwanda? 

A.
Counsel, I am a little bit confused.  I have mentioned my various appointments, and during that time, I wonder whether you are asking whether I carried out some duties outside of the country or inside?  

Q.
Yes, indeed, that is what I wanted to know even though my question was not very clear. 

A.
Obviously, I carried out several missions abroad and I will mention a few of them.  In my capacity as commander of the Bugesera training centre, we had a twinning programme with the said training centre in Belgian, and within that context, I travelled to Belgium for a period of two weeks to visit the said training centre -- observe its operational procedures.  And upon my return, my Belgian counter‑part also travelled to the Bugesera training centre where I was commander.  During my period as the commander of the Ruhengeri para‑commando battalion, I had the opportunity to travel once again to Belgium to observe military exercises and operations by the Belgium army stationed in Germany. I spent one month there and I was with my colleague who commanded the Huye para‑commando battalion, as well as the G3 of the Rwandan Army.  

Within the country, I took part in various missions.  For example, either at the ESO or at the ESM, the Higiro (phonetic) project.  In 1992, I was a member of a military assessment committee which had been set up 

by the minister of national defence, James Gasana.  That commission started its work around the 

17th or 18th of November 1992 and concluded its work at the end of November 1992.  It would not be possible for me to give you all the details, and in fact most of them are not even necessary. 

Q.
In any case we will revisit this assessment committee, Mr. Bizimungu.  Did you have the occasion to give advice to any authorities concerning the military situation in Rwanda? 

A.
Advice as such, no.  But as a commander, the normal practice is that if you are a unit commander, you are automatically the advisor of the main commander.  You are the one who is in the field and sometimes you are called upon to provide information to the superiors.  And obviously I am referring to the period when I started as a unit commander under the direct authority of the general staff.  Generally, I would be summoned for consultations and this did not happen to me alone.  It was the general practice.  Other commanders were summoned for the same purpose, but at some time ‑‑ at some points in my career I was designated as advisor but unfortunately, I did not exercise the responsibilities related thereto.  At the end of 1992 I heard over the radio that the government council had appointed me as military advisor at the office of the president of the republic.  This was at the end of 1992.  That is immediately after my return from the commission of which I had been a member.  So I learnt that I had been appointed military advisor.  Unfortunately I was not to occupy that position due to certain circumstances that prevented me from travelling to occupy that position, maybe if I had been able to do so, I wouldn’t be here now. 

Q.
We are going to come back to this issue, Mr. Bizimungu.  Obviously, you knew Juvénal Habyarimana.  My question is as follows:  What type of relationships did you have with him? 

A.
Professional relations.  That is professional relationship, Counsel.  When I was admitted into the higher military academy in 1972, he was minister of the national defence and chief of staff of the Rwandan Armed Forces.  One year later, he became president of the republic.  

I shook President Habyarimana's hand for the first time when I was in the Bigogwe commando training centre.  I believe that was in 1976 when he visited the centre as the chief of staff to inspect the units which is something which he did not do all the time, but at certain points.  I have told you about my various ranks.  I was the second lieutenant.  He greeted the officers, and I had the privilege to shake the hand of the head of state.  I next greeted the head of state on certain occasions.  We were living in Gisenyi and sometimes at the end of the year he visited Gisenyi and he would organise a little ceremony for the civil servants based in Gisenyi.  And since he was greeting everyone, I had the opportunity to greet him also.  However, I saw President Habyarimana in a tête-à-tête for the first time when I was appointed commander of the Bugesera training centre.  After that appointment, I was called and told to come ‑‑ to meet the chief of staff.  Several movements had taken place, several unit commanders had been appointed, and all of us were summoned to the general staff headquarters and they had instructed us to dress in a certain manner.  

I arrived in his office and then there I found the deputy chief of staff who has appeared before this Court and the president himself was there, but we were at the general staff headquarters.  After having introduced myself as was the procedure, he asked me whether I wanted to be received alone or whether the presence of the deputy chief of staff could be of concern to me.  I said; "No, you summoned me and I am here present, General."  He told me; "I have appointed you the commander of the Bugesera training centre.  This is a ‑‑ and this is the place where the seeds are planted for the recruits of the army, and if that does not work well, the army cannot function well.  So I have appointed you as ‑‑ in my capacity as the chief of staff.  You go there and find out what you can do, because this has to be a training ground for the Rwandan Army.  I am counting on you.”  He said he knew me.  I did not know that he knew me.  But that was his prerogative because he was the chief of staff.  And I said; "Thank you, and thank you for trusting me.  I will do my best.  And whenever I need some advice, I will contact you.  I will contact the general of staff.  And I was very happy when I left because you should not forget that at that time he was not only the chief of staff and minister of defence, but he was also president of the republic.  It was the accumulation of several positions which was exceptional, and so it was just not anyone who could have access to the president of the republic.  I saw him for the second time.  And, in fact, while I was in the Bugesera training centre, I dealt directly with the general staff headquarters.  And the deputy chief of staff.  We received correspondence from the chief of staff who was President Habyarimana, but the routine issues were managed by the deputy chief of staff.  I saw him for the second time when I was appointed commander of the Ruhengeri para‑commando battalion, and other people were appointed as well.  And as per the normal practice, the unit commanders were summoned once again.  And I had started getting used to that.  He told me; "Three years ago, I received you here to assign you as a commander to the Bugesera training centre.  I have called you once again to assign you to another mission.  We want to set up a commando battalion.  
Q.
What was its name?  
A.
The Ruhengeri para‑commando battalion which will be based in Mukamira camp.  So we needed someone who has commando training and who has experience in that domain.  He told me:  "I am happy with your performance at the Bugesera training centre and I hope that you will do as well in your new assignments."  I remember that the person who succeeded me in Bugesera was the future chief of staff, General Nsabimana.  He also went to see the head of state and after his audience he told me; "We have to speak.  The chief has just told me that, “Look, the person you are replacing in Bugesera performed well there.  He is younger than you and it would be a pity if you did not perform as well as him.”  So this is just an aside, but I had to point it out.  

While I was in Ruhengeri, I occasionally saw the president who had come there for one event or the other.  In July, the president would travel to all the regions.  We were all members of the MRND at that time.  It was a single party and all the authorities were there.  The unit commanders, the school principals and that is how come at that time I could meet with Nyabusore and other people, but from a professional point of view, I saw President Habyarimana again when I became the commander of the Ruhengeri ops secteur.  I saw him in Mutara, precisely on the 7th of December 1990 when we had just completed the cleaning up operations in the Akangera camp. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

General, it would be helpful if you would spell those names.  That would slow down the proceedings also.  Whenever you speak of a name or you speak of a place and the person, please try to spell, that will slow down the proceedings also.  

THE WITNESS:

Thank you for reminding me of that, Mr. President.  Which were the names that I mentioned?  Can I be assisted here?  

MR. TAMBADOU: 

I believe I heard Nyabusore, if we can also have the full name, as well.  Thank you.

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

I can help you, Mr. Bizimungu.  It is N‑Y‑A‑B‑U‑S‑O‑R‑E, and just before that you mentioned Mutara. M‑U‑T‑A‑R‑A. 

MR. TAMBADOU: 

If it may please, My Lords, if we could have the full name of Nyabusore, that’s what I asked for.  Thank you.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Jean Baptiste Nyabusore. That is to answer my Learned Friend’s question. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
That’s what was mentioned, is that not so, Mr. Bizimungu?

A.
It is Jean Baptiste Nyabusore.  I said, Nyabusore, specifically, because Mr. Tambadou knows that he is associating me all the time with Nyabusore.  So, I am laying a foundation here for my defence.  You have alleged that I was holding meetings with Nyabusore, so I am talking to you about the circumstances under which I met with him within the framework of the single party in 1988 and 1989.  So I deliberately mentioned that name.  It is not him only that I met with.  There were other heads of departments and the others, and his name obviously is Jean‑Baptiste.  You can cross‑check in the documents and you have a lot of those documents. 

Q.
Yes, Mr. Bizimungu.  I understand that in responding to my question, your relationship with 

Juvénale Habyarimana was essentially a professional one as you stated? 

A.
Yes, professional.  And when I became the commander of the Ruhengeri ops center, well, our relationship was still professional, and I became the Ruhengeri commander of the ops centre in 1991, he was still chief of staff of the Rwandan army, he was also a chief of staff of the gendarmarie, and he was minister of defence and he was also head of state.  So ‑‑ well, when he came to see us, well, we would say that the boss is coming to see us.  And he came to visit us ‑‑ Ruhengeri ops centre on more than three occasions, I believe.  And I was called on more than three occasions to Kigali, where, I believe, on two occasions he received me at the president's office.  And on all occasions he was putting questions to me, as to the military situation at the time.  Now, of course, at the end of December 1991, he left this position and he became ‑‑ he was no longer chief of staff of the army nor was he chief of staff of the gendarmerie nor was he minister of defence.  I believe that it was at this moment in time 

that General Ndindiliyimana was named to the position of minister of defence and Cello Kebab became chief of staff at that moment in time.  Chief of staff of the Rwandan army.  And whilst he was a deputy chief of staff, there were some officers who were asking to be received by the chief of staff himself, then he delegated authority to himself to receive them in his capacity as deputy.  Now, there was an officer who asked to be received by the chief of staff.  I am talking at the time when Serubuga was still in position.  And he said; "I would like to be received by the chief of staff, and in brackets, he put, (the true one), in order not to be received by Serubuga. 

Q.
Mr. Serubuga, when was he chief of staff exactly? 

A.
From the 1st of January to mid‑June 1992

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Mr. President, could Mr. Bizimungu be requested to slow down. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
The Prosecutor, on a number of occasions had made reference to what he wrote and to what he said, and also to Habyarimana’s army as such since the beginning of this trial.  Does that mean anything to you?  That is Habyarimana's army? 

A.
Well, I don't know whether the Prosecutor ‑‑ I am sorry, I do not know whether the Prosecutor would dare write such a thing.  However, if he did, it would be a mistake.  I hope that the mistake does not stream from him, because I do not see how somebody can treat a national army as an individual army.  An army is not an individual thing, it is a national body.  But it is true to say that Habyarimana's army ‑‑ well, this connotation was always used, and in such a style that was propaganda in itself.  Counsel, 

I am here before you and my compatriots are amongst us.  And there are others who were in exile, others in Rwanda who are suffering.  Rwanda was a victim of propaganda, a victim of manipulation of misinformation of intoxication.  And the result is that people are inhabited by the devil, that people are still building up mistruths.  There's propaganda, there’s misinformation and its pursuers.  Habyarimana’s army, any general who was at the head of the army, well, one can say that it is the army of General Patron, for example.  The commander, a great commander, in general one says that the unit or units that he is commanding is his unit.  And this is based on pride.  But when we come into the field of propaganda as we know it or knew it in Rwanda, when one starts to say that the army belongs to one individual and that that person is going to be dethroned, then this creates confusion.  And I hope that the Trial Chamber will give me the opportunity to come back on this issue at length because it is close to my heart.  I have the opportunity to express myself and I really would like to say what I feel on this issue.  

Politicians in the year 1990 under multiparty politics began to attack Habyarimana.  And once they started doing this, they said; "Well, he is our opponent."  Of course, it is their right to do this.  They had the right to depose Habyarimana to democracy.  That is what opposition is all about.  However, they were going to use a strategy, how they could actually weaken that adversary.  First of all, they chose to attack him on some points where he was relatively strong.  Now in 1990 when the RPF attacked until the year 1992, around the month of April 1992, we were in a forceful military position with reference to the RPF.  And the entire Rwandan population of the majority.  I wouldn’t say all of the population.  I wouldn’t say from number one to number eight million ‑‑ well, I would say the majority of the Rwandese population was supporting the Rwandan Armed Forces.  And it was ‑‑ he was the head of these Rwandan Armed Forces, the president.  And the RPF ‑‑ I shall come back to this at a later stage.  The RPF ‑‑ the RPF knows very well that Habyarimana is a popular individual and that despite some pitfalls here and there and some measures of opposition, that on the whole he is a strong individual, with a view to attacking him, a number of strategies are put in place.  And there was ‑‑ there wasn't really the sufficient political arms in place, and that is why they begun propaganda.  Now, the first thing was to try and dethrone him on his strongest issues.  That is to say one begun to use strategies such as saying, "Well, you are no longer fighting for a nation, you are fighting for a man, for an individual."  And that was harmful subsequently.  We shall come back to this.  Now especially this misinformation, this campaign of misinformation with a view to destroying the Rwandan Armed Forces.  And this will unfortunately come true under the Brussels pact.  When the FDC went to Brussels in the month of May 1992, they will create an objective alliance with the RPF with a view to overthrowing Habyarimana.  Now ‑‑ very, I can understand people wanting to overthrow Habyarimana, but one thing to destroy the country in the process is not good, contemptible.  

Now, this was misinformation.  Habyarimana's army never existed as such.  This was political struggle.  On the one hand you have the RPF propaganda.  On the other hand, you had propaganda on the part of the new opposition, and I am saying that I had nothing against this opposition that was coming into being, far from it.  Democracy was a good thing, and I do not believe that Rwanda should have stayed behind and not become a democratic national.  However, when this democracy then came to a situation where the country was caught into a very unhappy period, then this was not a good thing. 

Q.
We shall come back to this at a later stage, General Bizimungu, as to the various issues that you refer to as they are very important, at this moment in time I would like to talk about a slight difficult subject.  We talked about the man himself, we talked about the soldier and sometimes the division between those two concepts is difficult to make.  Now, your general marital status today and what was it also in Rwanda until the year 1994, please? 

A.
I do not know whether I can speak anymore clearly than the witness who appeared yesterday.  Well, I support everything that she said.  I was married.  I was a father of five children.  I have been married since the 22nd of January 1977.  And if I forget the date, well then she might hold it against me, but there we are.  I do not know what else to say. 

Q.
I understand whatever the case may be that you have a wife, that you have five children, and this has been your marital status for quite some time now.  You were talking about meeting her at school, and you were saying that the flame had lit at that time and that it has been burning intensely ever since then.  What was your idea, yourself, as a man and as a soldier?  What was your idea of your country throughout the various positions that you held?  What was your idea of your country? 

A.
Well, before being a soldier one is a Rwandese as far as I am concerned anyway, and it is not that in view of the fact that one is a soldier, one is a citizen who loves one's country more than anyone else, no.  This is a professional field, and before being a soldier one is a citizen of a nation.  So as such one citizen has rights and one has to respect the law; that is fundamental, and once this individual becomes a soldier, he or she must be aware and also must be aware of the extent of the duties that he or she is up against.  From the moment in time when I begun to lead soldiers at the front, I realised that it was very difficult to say to somebody that they should advance, because one knew only too well that in a matter of minutes he could die.  So this is where the job of soldier becomes a sacrifice.  I believe that in all posts one sacrifices oneself, but I believe that as a soldier at the front, the danger is even greater.  So I believe that the soldier must be a citizen.  He cannot be above the law.  But as a soldier, once he has taken on a responsibility of his rank, he must respect the rules of the game.  That is to say loyalty, devotion, sacrifices. This is a view that I have of the role of a soldier.  I believe that he is a citizen first and foremost and then he has his military position. 

Q.
General Bizimungu, I would like to refer you to article 12 of the statute of officers.  This has already been entered as an exhibit under Exhibit No. D. 306.  And shall read this paragraph 12 to you and I would ask you to comment on it.  

MR. TAMBADOU: 

My Lords, I know the document is in evidence but if my learned friend has copies that he has prepared, but also maybe the Chamber would like to have one.  As Your Lordship, please. 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

And I would join Mr. Tambadou by saying that the interpreters would also like to have a copy, please. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

With your leave, Mr. President, we shall ask Mr. Registrar to undertake these duties. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Q.
I did not know that you have a copy before you, General Bizimungu, of that exhibit.  Whatever the case, maybe I will read article 12 to you. 

A.
I am sorry.  Could I have a copy of this document?  

Q.
So, I am referring General Bizimungu to article 12 of the statute of the officers’ ‑‑ of the officer’s statute, in fact.  It is says as follows: “All officers must take an oath before taking up a position."  The wording of the oath is as follows:  "Name, surname.  In the name of the Almighty God, I swear to the nation that I shall loyally fulfill my duties, that I shall remain faithful to the Rwandan republic and to the head of state, and I will promote the interests of the Rwandese nation."  

You took this oath, did you not, General Bizimungu? 

A.
Of course. 

Q.
And three things are highlighted within this oath.  First of all, to loyally fulfill one's job, to remain faithful to the public, to promote the interest of the Rwandese people.  These three important elements, did you bring these into play and in your view of your position, how did this actually come into play into your professional ‑‑ your professional duties as a soldier? 

A.
It is somewhat embarrassing for me, Counsel, because I will oblige to provide my own appreciation of the situation.  I did not believe that I am the first to do this.  I did my duty and I tried to do my duty to the best of my ability and capacity.  I was never accused of having fallen short of my duties, and throughout my career as a soldier from a disciplinary view point I never ‑‑ was never punished.  I was ‑‑ unfortunately we did not have access to all the documentation.  We were commended on the yearly basis and I believe that ‑‑ and we were marked, as well.  And I believe that the documents do exist.  And once I put my hands on them, then I can show them to you.  However, I will not provide my own assessment of my abilities and career.  

Q.
Now, for a layman such as myself, when you say (inaudible) senior or to be commended, or assessed, could you be more specific for my personal information? 

A.
Well, this might be military jargon.  When we talk about being assessed, there was an assessment on the yearly basis and this was done in all the divisions.  I do not know quite how this would be called essentially in administrative terms, but this was done at all levels within the military.  

Now, with reference to the officers, there was an assessment form where the various ranks are assessed, so the commander of the unit and all the officers under his orders are assessed.  Then that form is sent to the chief of staff, who then confirms its contents, and once this has been done, and he then transfers it to the minister of defence and that is the rank that would then establish or sign the assessment sheet in question. 

Q.
Now, at the risk of coming up against your humility here, now, the assessment that was made of yourself as a soldier in the various positions that you held, I believe that they were always very positive in nature, were they not? 

A.
Well, honestly, I believe that one witness who appeared here was my boss.  I believe that, subsequently, I was also promoted to a higher rank, and I never begged for those promotions.  I believe that they were handed down to me by those people who assessed me as such, and I will stop there. 

Q.
General Bizimungu, now, we know what your view is ‑‑ your view of your role as a soldier.  Now, what is your view of political power, as such? 

A.
Generally speaking ‑‑ well, I am not a politician or a political scientist, so it would be difficult for me to put the right words to this, but as a layman and as a citizen ‑‑ I shall speak as a citizen.  All countries need to be governed in a political manner, but the politics must respond to the needs of the nation.  So the soldier ‑‑ well, a soldier is a tool, but he is a legal tool of the government of the political institutions of the political power.  And what is more, in the constitution of the 10th of June of 1991, that was the basis of the multiparty politics.  Article 50, thereof, says that the government leads the national ‑‑ needs national politics and as such, he has or it has an administration and an armed force or armed forces.  So the military is there to help the politicians build a political situation.  But whether it is in the rules or regulations governing discipline, whether it is in the statutes relevant to the officers and non‑commissioned officers and troops, everything that is done must be based on the law.  It must be legal.  So the citizen has to submit himself to the rule of law, and politics, I believe, is the politics of the country, to my mind has to be more legal than anything else.  And this is my view of political power as such, but I also refer to this from the point of view of a soldier, the soldier that I was. 

Q.
During the entire presentation of the Prosecution evidence, it was frequently mentioned that there 

were region interests that there was regionalism, particularly within the institutions.  Now, you 

General Bizimungu, as a soldier, what is your reaction of this allegation of regionalism in Rwanda?
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A.
Thank you, Counsel.  We are raising issues of problems that were chronically experienced by my country and which also affected me.  People talk about this problem of regionalism, as well as ethnicism.  But I will begin by telling you that Rwanda is just not to point to the map.  It is a country which is small, of course, but which has four cardinal points, north, south, east, west and northeast and the others. All countries have a northern part of that country.  I do not wish to see a country that does not have a north.  But, unfortunately, and I believe this is not unique, but to Rwanda, but it is an unfortunate thing sometimes you have interests or stakes that are based on certain factors, such as regions.  

If I'm a General from Mukarangwa in Byumba when I go on leave in the helicopter, for example, there are children who are going to think I want to be like him.  But if a helicopter does not travel to my area, nobody will think about a helicopter.  So, there is that natural influence that accompanies the status of people.  So, people have spoken of the problem of regionalism in Rwanda, particularly during the period of the first republic when the focus of power was in Gitarama with President Kayibanda and there are certain problems that are supposed to have led to the coup d'etat of 1973, and those include ethnicism and regionalism.  Those who carried out the coup d'etat of 1973, the 11 officers of the first and second batches, and amongst those 11 officers, there were eight of them who were said to hail from the north, who were alleged to hail from the north and three officers from other regions.  I do not know precisely the number of officers from Gisenyi, but we can count those from Ruhengeri:  Kanyarengwe, Ndibitura and Benda, Sabin.  In Gisenyi, you had Habyarimana, Nsekalije, Gahimanoa –

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

And the two other names that the witness mentioned, Mr. President, which he had to repeat.  There is Simba ‑‑

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone overlapping)
THE WITNESS:

Yes, I understand my problem, Mr. President.  And I am going to come back to them.

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone overlapping)

THE WITNESS:

Habyarimana, the spelling is known. You want me to spell it? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphone overlapping) 
THE WITNESS:

H‑A‑B‑Y‑A‑R‑I‑M‑A‑N‑A, I'm going to give their names by préfecture.  There is Nsekalije.  I spell N‑S‑E‑K‑A‑L‑I‑J‑E.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Please, could you go slowly?  

A.
Buregeya is spelled B‑U‑R‑E‑G‑E‑Y‑A, Serubuga, S‑E‑R‑U‑B‑U‑G‑A, Gahimanoa, G‑A‑H‑I‑M‑A‑N‑O‑A. Those were the officers from Gisenyi.  That is, those who took part in the coup d'etat of 1973.  So, there were five of them from Gisenyi.  

Now, talking about the officers from Ruhengeri.  There is Kanyarengwe, K‑A‑N‑Y‑A‑R‑E‑N‑G‑W‑E, Benda, B‑E‑N‑D‑A, Ndibitura, N‑D‑I‑B‑I‑T‑U‑R‑A.  Those are the officers from Ruhengeri, the senior officers.  There were three of them in that group.  The other officers were Munyandekwe, M‑U‑N‑Y‑A‑N‑D‑E‑K‑W‑E.  He is from Gitarama.  And from Gikongoro, we had Simba, spelled S‑I‑M‑B‑A.  From Kigali, Ruhashya, R‑U‑H‑A‑S‑H‑Y‑A.  I'm going to count to see whether the number computes.  It is correct.  

Q.
I'm sorry, General, with your permission, you also mentioned Mukrenge, M‑U‑K‑R‑E‑N‑G‑E.  It was not in connection with what you have just said, but a bit before that.  You also mentioned Kayibanda, K‑A‑Y‑I‑B‑A‑N‑D‑A, and I understand that these two names have nothing to do with those officers you were talking about in relation to the coup d'etat.  I'm sorry to interrupt you.  

A.
Now, the coup d'etat of 1973 was carried out by those people and it was perceived as the coup d'etat carried out against Kayibanda, of course, but given that in his government, Kayibanda also had several ministers from Gitarama.  It so happens that those several ministers from Gitarama were deposed, put in prison, some even died in prison, but that is another issue.  It was perceived that it was the north that had carried out a coup d'etat against the south.  

Now, when that is said, I wonder about a few things and after the information I have given you.  Now, I wonder where does the north begin and where does it end.  Where does the south begin and where does it end.  This is something to be sorted out.  Geographically speaking, I hail from the Byumba and this is the northernmost préfecture of the country, and you can see that amongst those coup makers, there was no officer from Byumba, but Gitarama in the south had an officer.  Gitarama in the centre had an officer in that group.  If we look at the map of Rwanda, you will see that most of those officers who hailed from Gisenyi are closer from ‑‑ closer to Kibuye and Gitarama than to Byumba.  So when you have people who are neighbours, and I'm referring, for example, to the Gitarama and Gisenyi préfectures or Kibuye and Gisenyi.  When you are neighbours, there is a certain degree of osmosis in family relationships.  I, for example, lived quite close to Uganda, so there was a lot of interaction ‑‑ osmosis.  I had my aunts who were ‑‑ who were married in Uganda.  My uncle lived in Uganda.  So, this problem of regionalism is manipulated according to one's interests.  

People refer to the north.  Of course, if we take the example of these officers.  Some of them became ministers.  Nsekalije, for example, became an all powerful minister of foreign affairs and a minister of secondary education.  Obviously, he developed his area.  All the people in the north ‑‑ if you say that all the people of the north benefited from the new regime, then I think you have to put things in this perspective.  The regional problem is always present here and there.  It is not exclusively present in Rwanda.  It is everywhere, but to use it and to interpret it in a way that is inappropriate, is what is bad.  

Furthermore, apart from the coup makers of the 5th of July, the policies of Habyarimana which he implemented, given that he had been accusing his predecessor of resorting to regionalism.  What I can say ‑‑ what I experienced that during the formation of the government, he tried to include all the préfectures, so that one should not have six in it and another had none.  So there was a certain equilibrium in various areas including recruitment into the armed forces.  It was understood that with the coup d'etat there were certain problems that arose, as a result in certain areas that would leave some scars.  Even if Habyarimana appointed people in the government from Gitarama, such as Shyira, these were people from Gitarama who had their close ones, and who had been overthrown.  And so whatever happened, this problem was going to resurface at one point or the other.  But after the Habyarimana regime was put in place, efforts were made to transcend this regional problem amongst others.  But it resurfaced at the beginning of the war with RPF and with the institution of the multiparty political system. 

Q.
General Bizimungu, in the reality of your military duties, your military perception, while you were exercising your prestigious military duties, this regional interest, if I can describe them as such, were they of concern to you?  At any one point did you ever take them into consideration? 

A.
Now, first of all, let me tell you about my batch.  There were 13 of us in my batch at the ESM. Unfortunately, if we speak in regional terms, which I really do not like to do, but I'm compelled now to speak in ethnic and regional terms and this was never any (French spoken).  But if I take my batch, for example, there were 13 of us and out of those 13, there were people from all préfectures of the country.  There was no one from Ruhengeri.  One person from Byumba, myself.  One person from Gisenyi who would later become a doctor.  The others are from Kibuye, Cyangugu -- But let me point out also that since we graduated during a period which was close to the coup d'etat, two of my colleagues who were with us were not promoted.  They were from Gitarama, so I believe that at that time there was still some regional distrust.  But what I'm saying is that there were 13 of us in our batch in school and there are two of them who could have been described as hailing from the north.  So even at that time, I did not perceive any problems related to regionalism. 

And when I went to work in the commando training centre, the instructors I found there hailed from all parts of the country.  It was the quality of those people.  Those instructors were selected because of their professionalism.  It was because of their abilities.  They were NCO's.  there was Ziherambere, for example, and I will spell that: Z‑I‑H‑E‑R‑A‑M‑B‑E‑R‑E.  Well, I will refrain from giving more names ‑‑ to avoid polemics.  
Q.
Except when it is necessary, General, but try once again to slow down.  

A.
Thank you, Counsel, I will try.  Please, you have to call me to order each time.  I taught discipline and so I will try to comply with your request.  

Regarding the non‑commissioned officers, the instructors that I found in the training centre who were working with the Belgian cooperation officers.  It was because of their ability, their aptitude, and I worked with those people.  I was proud to work with them because they were competent.  When I was in the para-commando battalion, where I did not spend a lot of time, in fact, I spent five months and there you had soldiers from all parts of the country.  And when I arrived in Gako, I found that there were many instructors who were natives of the south of the country and I can reassure you that there were ‑‑ they were happy to work with Augustin Bizimungu.  I'm compelled to talk about this.  Regional and ethnic considerations have never been a factor for selection in my life. 

Q.
Still within the context of your military conception, let us deal with those issues of ethnic considerations.  Throughout those years as a soldier, what was your conception of ethnic groups in Rwanda, 

General Bizimungu? 

A.
You are talking about Bizimungu as a soldier.  I would like to talk about Bizimungu as a Rwandan citizen to begin with.  

It is true that we have studied history and it is true that in 1959.  I was seven years old.  I was in primary school, first year of primary school in September.  A childhood friend with whom I went to school for the first time was a Tutsi from my colline from my hill.  At that time, I knew nothing about ethnic groups.  Unfortunately, two months thereafter, that child left us because it was at the time of the disturbances of 1959.  That child left and the other Tutsis, who were not many in our region, went to Uganda.  I do not know anyone who was killed at that time, but because of the disturbances of the year 1995 (sic), the Tutsis left and went to Uganda.  I know that the inhabitants of our region continued taking care of the harvest of those Tutsis who had gone to Uganda.  There are people who traveled to Uganda to take their harvest with them, and also there were other Tutsis from Uganda who came back to Rwanda to recuperate -- recover some of their things.  I did meet that child.  He was with his mother and when he saw me, he told his mother, "That is Bizimungu."  But his mother reprimanded him.  She said, "Come, let us go."  I did not understand anything about that and it saddens me when I think back on that incident. 

Q.
I understand you, General Bizimungu.  

A.
Now, as a citizen, Bizimungu has problems that he cannot overcome.  They are historical, sociological problems, but from my point of view I would have wished that Rwandans, Tutsis, Hutus or Twas or naturalised Rwandans, should be all Rwandans without any ethnic considerations.  That problem has brought about many problems for Rwanda and they originate from much further back in the history.  The problems did not start in 1959 or in 1962 or even 1967.  These are problems that are beyond us.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Maybe I should ask that a break be taken now.  That is what I was going to do, General Bizimungu.  Could we take the break now, Mr. President? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Court is adjourned for 15 minutes.


(Court recessed from 1100H to 1115H)
MR. PRESIDENT:

Court has resumed.  Before we continue, Counsel, I want to inform Mr. Vincent Lurquin, Counsel, now that we are coming to an end with Bizimungu's testimony; you have to provide the WVSS with the necessary information regarding your witnesses.

Mr. Black, when I mentioned this about two weeks back, he said that it had been done, but WVSS has not yet confirmed that.  So, please, see to it that the list is filed and -- because they need about 60 days notice.  So at least try to comply with the Court order and to see that all these witnesses are here on time.  

We hope to start the next session on the 16th of January.  That would be Mr. Black's birthday.  So we will start on that day because the people come here on Sunday and Monday, so we thought just we are starting on the 14th to give one or two days rest and start on the 16th.  But see to it that the witnesses are on the ground ‑‑ sufficient witnesses are on the ground for us to have continuity with the case.  Okay?  

MR. LURQUIN:

Yes, Mr. President, we are reassuring you, we already have a list of witness, 31 witnesses on the 
18th of November.  This was given to WVSS and, of course, we will do what you say.  I don't want this to carry on until the 22nd of June, the date of my birthday.  So, yes, it will, indeed, be ready for the time you said. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, Counsel, I was not doubting what you had said.  But the information that I got was that WVSS, they have got the list. 
So, if you have given the list to them, it is up to them to bring the witnesses here.  
Thank you.  

Yes, Mr. St‑Laurent, you can continue. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Obliged, Mr. President, and I'm happy to see that the coming of witnesses does not have to concern me on this occasion. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Microphones overlapping) …forget about everything now. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Well, nearly everything.  Well, now, was it not the 21st of January that we were due to start according to the calendar?  I heard you say the date the 16th? 

MR. PRESIDENT:

The 16th, yes.  Because the courthouse is available, so instead of starting on the 14th, they put it on the 16th to enable the officers to come and take one day of rest and start on the 16th. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

If I have a question, it is because we received a calendar ‑‑  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Yes, that has been done without consulting me.  That is what happened. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
General Bizimungu, we were talking about your conception and your role as a soldier with regards to ethnicity.  Now, as a soldier, having occupied these very important posts, were there ethnic considerations of concern to you, or did they in any way guide you in exercising of your professional duties? 

A.
No. 

Q.
Did you have under your command, General Bizimungu, whatever the time or whatever the position you held at the time, did you have people ‑‑ soldiers of different ethnic groups who were under your command throughout that entire period until the year 1994?

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Microphone, please.  

THE WITNESS:

Subsequent to propaganda and accusations, of course, everything becomes tarnished, even that which was not.  Now, when I say to you that I worked with Tutsi, you would ask how I knew they were Tutsi.  I would be obliged to respond by saying which criteria I followed, this or that.  Well, I would say that in Rwanda, it is true that we did not make an issue of the Tutsi problem.  You know, I heard that said from the year 1959.  I grew up in such an ambiance and, now, I forgot to say to you that as a citizen, generally speaking, one should know the national anthem.  And the national anthem which is now different, but in those days all Rwandese, Hutu, Twa, and Tutsi and all other Rwandans who decided in such a manner.  We are coming as one group to construct the nation, and I'd like to understand the fact that even this national anthem sung by the citizens.  We talked to Hutu, Twa and Tutsi -- we invited them to unity and according to the slogan of our country which was unity, peace and progress, this is how we expected things to work.  So, of course, such things as ethnicity did exist in Rwanda and these were people who were of a specific ethnic origin and some times, yesterday, for example, I heard somebody asking my wife how she knew that somebody else was a Tutsi.  Well, how can you expect to live with somebody for two, three, four months without being able to ‑‑ it wasn't a taboo subject.  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The witness does not finish his sentence again.  

THE WITNESS:

This is generally speaking from a social point of view.  Now, when I was in primary school, my teacher in the fourth grade was called Kanyangira, Léonidas.  Kanyangira is spelled K‑A‑N‑A‑Y‑N ‑‑  

MR. PRESIDENT:

She can't follow you. 

THE WITNESS:

I thank you, Mr. President.  Yes, of course, people do need to follow me.  And it is in my interest, is it not?  Kanyangira, K‑A‑N‑Y‑A‑N‑G‑I‑R‑A.  He was my teacher in the fourth grade of primary school and I knew that he was a Tutsi.  It had no effect upon me.  And what is more in fourth grade of primary, I believe that we were with five other Tutsi children and we knew that they were Tutsi.  We did not have identity cards at that moment in time.  We did not ask our teacher for him to produce his identity card.  We were living together side‑by‑side, as citizens and we knew each other.  

Now, in the sixth grade of primary school, however, my teacher was a Tutsi, as well.  Rubangura was his name and I shall spell it, R‑U‑B‑A‑N‑G‑U‑R‑A.  He was a Tutsi.  Everyone knew that he was a Tutsi and in passing, I would point out that I had so much esteem for these two teachers that later on in life when I held a good post, I was very fond of them.  I would go and visit them on holiday and in view of the fact that Rubangura lived not too far away and that he was a neighbour virtually of my family-in-law, and that every time that I went to see my father in law, I would go to visit him.  So, this is just to say that this problem or issue has been made a case of in order to find theories upon it.  A problem that was not managed.  A problem of this ilk that was not managed from the year 1990 maybe this is ‑‑ hails back to the feudal system ‑‑ back to the year 1959 and the various incursions on the part of the Inyenzi and under the Habyarimana regime until the year 1990 in view of the fact that the problem of refugees was not yet solved and this became a pretext of the Tutsi of the diaspora to take up arms.  
When the war broke out, negotiations were underway and this problem was hidden under the carpet and people tended to hide behind considerations of a democratic nature, so one would say that these were not necessarily problems that concerned the country.  I believe that, unfortunately, today misinformation and propaganda continue to exist.  I believe that this problem or issue of Rwanda in order for it to be resolved needs to be taken up with both hands in a courageous manner with a view to finding a solution amongst Rwandans.  And the international community should help the Rwandese without any prejudices, without any preconceptions and tell Rwandans that they cannot go on in such a manner, that this is enough and that they have now come to a point in time where people have destroyed each other.  So, if a solution is not found, it would be a great shame.  I would not like to predict about fate for the country.  However, I believe that a solution needs to be found and if people continue to do --undertake propaganda, why -- this was the reason why our country was destroyed.  Of course, today we are forced to talk in terms of regionalism and what we are talking about here, we are obliged to talk about it in ethnic terms, not regional terms.  

Now, when I chose my friends, I never chose them as such.  Friends are made, like that.  One does not first of all ask them whether they are Tutsi or not with a view to being your friend or not.  No, and I assure you there might be Hutus who live around you without necessarily being your friend.  So friendship is made on the basis ‑‑ well, because that person is your friend and because you are who you are.  It is not ethnicity.  It is not the color of the skin.  That is how I lived.  So, if there were Tutsi within my professional surroundings -- of course, as a commander of Bugesera when people would enroll, it is true that I would receive recruits who would come along with all their identity papers, whether it be the professional identity card, whether it be the ‑‑ the document of single status, whether it be a document attesting to their good moral character.  Well, I would assess all that documentation for new recruits and a Tutsi who was fastest on his legs, how can you expect that that individual can be described as inept.  
We have here witnesses who came to testify, who said they were members of the reconnaissance battalion, who said that they were Tutsi and most of those witnesses who came to testify were people who were enrolled when I was commander at Bugesera.  I knew that they were Tutsi, but people did not say, no.  We shall get rid of him because he is Tutsi.  They say, we shall take him because he has capacities.  It is true that the Kibungo préfecture in which there are more Tutsi than in Ruhengeri, it is true if you sent a contingent from there, there would be more Tutsi in it than in the contingent from Ruhengeri.  There was a census document which showed Ruhengeri had about three percent or less.  I no longer remember.  I saw that Mr. Tambadou really made use of that document and we are going to come back to that with him.  But it is true that in Ruhengeri, if you had a contingent of about 80 recruits, there might not be two or three Tutsi, whereas in Kibungo if there are 40 people, you could have 
14 Tutsi.  That is not surprising.  So, I work with people that are given to me irrespective of their ethnicity.  I worked with them at home.  Yesterday, the witness mentioned that ‑‑

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

General, please slow down.  Once again, I would say even by 50 percent, otherwise we will have problems with the record and with the interpretation.  

THE WITNESS:

Well, we are prepared for everything.  What I was saying was that whether in my private life or in my professional life, I never took ethnic considerations into account.  It is true that the country is what it is.  It is said that it is made up of 80 percent of Hutu and 15 percent of Tutsi.  Here, people do not mention Twas because they are left to their own devices and now this personality is reflected in almost all domains of national life.  I'd like to challenge the Prosecutor to name any Tutsi that I maltreated because he was working with me.  I challenge the Prosecutor to identify any witness that he brought here.  I know there were Tutsi in Rwanda who were under my command.  He could have brought one of them to testify that, look, this is Augustin Bizimungu and we worked with him.  We are, of course, going to come back to those witnesses that appeared here and who alleged that I stated that the enemy was Tutsi.  And so in a nutshell, my position is as follows:  I worked with everyone without taking into account any ethnic regional considerations.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Thank you, General.  Now, the war by the RPF was from the 1st of October 1990.  Did it have any -- or consequences on ethnic relations and ethnic tensions in Rwanda? 

A.
This is an unfortunate and a sad reality.  This sociological and ethnic problem in Rwanda is complex.  It is not an isolated problem.  Mr. Sagahutu, will excuse me for that, but what I'm saying is that the problem is a regional problem.  

In 1973, there was a coup d'etat because of a reason amongst others in Rwanda.  In 1972, there were ethnic problems in Burundi and I'm referring here to problems between the Hutu and the Tutsi in Burundi.  There were many Burundian Hutus who fled to Rwanda and that was not the first time.  Because around 1965, the same thing had already happened, so the ‑‑ Rwanda had always been a dumping ground for Burundian Hutu refugees and the reverse took place in 1959.  And subsequently, there were many Tutsi refugees who left Rwanda to neighbouring countries, including Burundi.  So this was the reverse situation, you had Burundian Hutus fleeing to Rwanda and Rwandan Tutsi fleeing to other countries.  

In 1972, the problems began in Burundi and with the massive arrival of Hutu refugees from Burundi to Rwanda, problems started arising.  I do not know how to go about describing this, but in 19 ‑‑ in 1972 in Rwanda, there were problems of an ethnic nature leading to the flight of Hutus.  There was open tension between Rwanda and its sister republic Burundi, even at a highest level, at the level of the heads of state.  That is at the political level.  So, there was that ethnic problem in Rwanda, but which was connected or related to the ethnic problem with Burundi in 1972.  And then adding to that, there was the regional problems Rwanda based on political considerations, also.  It also appears that President Kayibanda feared that there would be a coup d'etat.  So he, first of all, disbanded the national police.  The police national ‑‑ the national police was disbanded and integrated into the army and given that most of the police superintendents were generally from the south, and since we have seen that from the first and second batch, most of the officers were from Ruhengeri and Gisenyi, that is in the army and this means that they hailed from the north, so Kayibanda appointed some young officers to the presidency and these were captains and so on.  This was something he used to promote people from his region and since he was afraid of a coup d'etat, he started appointing those graduates from the first and second batches to certain positions.  This is how come Kanyarengwe, the future president of the RPF, was appointed director of the Nyundo junior seminary. 

Other officers were appointed to key plantations and so on, so this is what happened.  There was an ethnic and a regional problem that led to the organisation of the coup d'etat of 1973.  When Habyarimana carried out his coup d'etat, in fact, it was welcomed by many Rwandans, particularly Tutsi.  This is something that has been very well documented, and if you have experts of a good faith, they can tell you that from 1973 to 1990, there was a situation of calm and peace that was envied in the region.  
In 1990, the RPF attacked Rwanda.  It was necessary to know who had attacked Rwanda.  Before that, there was confusion.  There was the NRA, the national resistance army of Rwanda, the RPF soldiers or rather of Uganda.  The RPF wore uniforms of the Ugandan army and carried their professional cards.  The attack received wide media coverage because it had been well prepared and journalists had been invited for that purpose.  There were Belgian and French ‑‑ rather journalists who followed the attack who followed Rwigema.  And they said these were Tutsi refugees of the (inaudible) that is the children of Tutsi refugees who had attacked Rwanda.  And everything that happened between 1973 and 1990, that is the achievements of that period of peace were lost because, one, it was the Inyanzis who were returning.  They had attacked Rwanda.  Ever since 1960 to 1967, they were known as the RPF at that time, but they were the same people.  So inside the country to begin with, there was suspicion and this was particularly because that attack of 1990 did not just happen.  There were precursory signs, particularly in the Mutara area.  
I had my sister who was married there at the time, and I also had my sister-in-law who was married there.  And around August 1990, when we generally met, since I took my leave in August, the entire family came to see me or I would travel to see them.  They were giving us information.  They were asking us, what are you doing?  Are you preparing themselves?  Because the children of the Mahima were going to Uganda to receive training.  When I went to Uganda in 1988 before I left Bugesera, there was one man from my native area who had fled to Burundi and who had stolen the diploma of his colleague because he had not completed his studies.  He had stolen the diploma of a certain Kalima, spelled, K‑A‑L‑I‑M‑A.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

General, slow down, please. 

THE WITNESS:

Now, this gentleman had gone to Burundi with the diploma that he had stolen from his colleague, so when he reached Burundi he changed his name.  His name had been Ntagwabira.  Spelt N‑T‑A‑G‑W‑A‑B‑I‑R‑A.  He hailed from my area, but in Burundi he was known by another name and when he learned over the radio that I was the commander at Gako, he did everything to contact me.  I knew him.  He knew me.  So, we made contact and this was in 1988.  He told me, look, there is currently a plan.  The Tutsi of the (inaudible) are organising themselves to attack your country.  You have to be careful.  He was the one telling me that the movement was recruiting people in Burundi, Zaire, and Tanzania, but that the main base was in Uganda.  Afterwards, recruitment would be carried out inside Rwanda, itself, so you had to take the necessary measures.  
I was a commander of the training centre, but this centre was at the border with Burundi.  I had to be responsible for security.  I had a network.  So, I was able to have that information.  So ever since 1988, there were indications that a movement mainly made up of Tutsi was preparing to attack Rwanda.  And so in 1990 the attack took place.  This led to distrust, suspicion.  People were saying these children of this person have left, but the radio stations were saying these were the Tutsi attacking Rwanda, whether it was RPF or what.  And so there was a resurgence of distrust inside the country and this distrust was mainly ethnic based.

On the field when the RPF first attacked at Mutara on the 1st of October 1990, it was mainly in the national park.  I fought there and so we came across some of the fighters, but there are physical features.  You can be mistaken, maybe you may not be mistaken, but there are physical features that could be observed and when the fighting moved to inhabited area, Byumba and Ruhengeri, when the RPF fighters came in contact with the members of the public, the inhabitants could see these people attacking.  They could be mistaken about physical features.  I do not argue with that.  It is possible to make a mistake, but whether you like it or not generally speaking, there are features that are characteristic to each ethnic group.  It is true that because of mixed marriages and so on, there could be differences, maybe that could have been a solution for all those mixed marriages that took place so that we could totally eliminate this problem.  I do not know.  You cannot compel a person to marry from this ethnic group or not, but maybe that issue of mixed marriages could have solved the problem.  The reality of that is in 1990, 1991 in the field, you had these fighters, who were generally tall and so on and so forth.  So the inhabitants could see them.  So how is it possible that they should not speak about it.  They did not need the general staff to meet at the end of 1991 to say that we are defining the enemy and they are the Tutsi.  
So, that definition has another orientation that had nothing to do with what Rwandans know, what they experienced, and what they can see.  As a result certain things happened and I'm going to talk about information that came from the front.  When the RPF started recruiting from inside the country, it was said that the children of such and such a person have gone to join the RPF, whereas Rwanda was mobilising itself to call on the young recruits to join the army, so there was this distrust. There were people who supported the war efforts of the RPF and yet the RPF was attacking the country.  They did not spare the members of the public, the inhabitants, but members of that public were also sending children to fight against the RPF.  So in the minds of people that would have created certain ideas.  I'm really not making any propaganda here.  I'm telling about things that really happened, and which we had to deal with.  
Then there was the institution of the multiparty political system.  There were newspapers, different media houses, and some of them mentioned clearly that it is the Tutsi who are attacking us.  So, this involved the newspapers on both sides, so the ethnic problem was picked up by foreign media.  It was reflected on the battlefield and in the newspapers being created inside the country.  Mr. President, some of the experts who appeared before this Court did not tell you the whole truth.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

General, I would really like to insist.  I know that it is very important to you, but you have to make an effort.  You should try to maybe breath slowly and slow down your delivery.

THE WITNESS:

Thank you, Counsel.  I'm going to make a real effort to do that.  I was telling this August Chamber that it is with regret that during the three years I have been sitting here, that I saw that there was a continuation of this manipulation in the presentation of evidence.  How can a witness appear before the Court and accuse the soldiers without giving you an overview of the situation that existed in Rwanda.  They did not mention the role of the media, and this requires an in-depth analysis in order to determine which were pro-RPF media, the pro‑government media, and the positions of the international media.  You can be told that the anti‑RPF media talked about ethnicity, but what did the pro‑RPF media say.  There were media publications that said when will the RPF arrive, so that Hutu should also go into exile for 30 years.  I was really disturbed by this manipulation.  They gave limited information to the 

Trial Chamber which has to hand down a judgment without telling you the rest of the problem.  The Rwandan problem is complex and it is described based on the interests of the various parties.  It is clear that when the RPF attacked in 1990, unfortunately, all the achievements of the former republic were undermined because people took consideration of the ethnic situation.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
And, General, this led to victims amongst the members of the population, is that what I am to understand? 

A.
Yes.  When for example, one says there were disturbances in Bugesera, there were, indeed, disturbances there.  When you are told that some Bigogwe were killed, it is indeed true.  When you are told that in Nkibimbera (phonetic), there were disturbances, yes, indeed, there were.  But because of this ethnic vision, one did not want to address the issues themselves in substance in order to find out why this was happening.  This was not my field.  I was out in the field.  There are exaggerations on both sides.  There is manipulation, which can also serve to the advantage of the one who is the underdog.  What we lived between the time of April and July, there was a disequilibrium, of course.  Now, the sociological and ethnic problem is a true problem.  The RPF war has a serious result as to the resurgence of this problem.  However, I believe that we have adduced evidence of this despite the imperfections of the Habyarimana regime.  The problem of refugees, the problems of democracy within Rwanda.  Those two issues were in actuality being resolved at the time and there are those who did, indeed, win the war, but unfortunately after having ripped the country apart and after having ripped the hearts of the Rwandese apart.  

Q.
When this war broke out, initiated by the RPF in October of 1990, in the context that you have described, there were victims, were there not?  There were victims also in Ruhengeri préfecture.  There will be women.  There will be men.  There will be children who will be deprived of their parents.  How do you react to such a situation, General? 

A.
Well, I shall not dwell on this. My Defence has had many witnesses who appeared who talked of the situation.  I personally am a victim of the situation in my family.  Any human being or human life, whether it be a Tutsi, a Hutu or a refugee or a foreigner in Rwanda, I will always condemn the person who takes the life of another person.  So how do you expect for people who are attempting to conquer power and who are going to displace thousands of people and subsequently the opposition is going to be accused of having forced the population to flee.  How can you possibly expect those people who are forcing those people to flee without counting those who lost their lives and killed, whether their throats were slit or by other means, I am not saying that they were killed by bombs or ammunition during combat, no.  The RPF attacked, say a village and they killed.  They slit people's throats. 

My cousin, he was, in fact, my neighbour, and during the Byumba attack in 1992, this was to say when our families ‑‑ that is to say the population of my region fled, I requested leave and I went to find my family members with a view to putting them somewhere.  When I arrived in Byumba, I was told that my cousin who was my neighbour, who was a peasant, who could neither read, nor write, was found in Byumba hospital.  I went to buy a blanket.  I was in the company of my wife on this occasion.  We bought a number of blankets to give to closest members of our family and my wife went to see my cousin to see whether he was being treated properly.  And she said, well, we have already lost him.  He will, in fact, die.  The village, my village came under attack.  There was no military position.  It was because this village was that of the Ruhengeri commander. 

In the meantime, my cousin was killed during this offensive -- and there were many people on my hill who were killed.  This is hearsay, and I know what you say about hearsay here.  Now, everyone says that they were asking where Bizimungu's mother was.  That's what the assailants were saying evidently.  Now, luck took her somewhere.  And this is just to say that whatever the motivations or deep seated reasons behind the attack, the population should not have suffered in such a manner because it profoundedly wounded people. 

Q.
Mukamkubama, M‑U‑K‑A‑M‑K‑U‑B‑A‑M‑A, but the question was general in nature.  Now, in the face of such unfortunate circumstances within the population, men, women or children losing their parents, did you ‑‑ well, how exactly did you react to these unfortunate circumstances within the population? 

A.
I really was a soldier.  A mere soldier out in the field and the contribution that I could make was to do my duty to stop the advance on the part of the RPF, and to enable the other people to take care of the population.  Now, as a human being, well, of course, there were individual gestures that I could make.  But after the offensive of the 8th of February 1993 in the months of April, May, that is when I came together with two ex‑compatriots and thought about this.  They were in Ruhengeri.  

Now, with respect to the military situation.  I could see that there were many children in the streets and I wondered what we could do.  I talked to my companions, the two only white individuals to have remained in Ruhengeri at the time, Mr. Hinc, H‑I‑N‑C, and Mr. Shiman (phonetic).  Unfortunately, I cannot provide you with the correct spelling of this, so I shall refrain from doing so.  The one is spelled and the other is Austrian.  They were in Ruhengeri and we saw each other on a regular basis.  And during our conversations, I asked them whether they could help me with a view to finding a solution and this is when the children of Ruhengeri idea came into existence.  We created or set up an association entitled, the children of Ruhengeri.  And during the first meeting that we convened, I was the one to take the floor and we invited people who worked essentially with these two ex‑compatriot individuals and also other people that we had met.  So, we decided to convene a meeting on a Saturday, I believe.  I shall not say that it was the last Saturday of the month in order to ‑‑ for Mr. Tambadou to think that I'm talking about the last Saturday of the month, no.  It was a Saturday.  I do not remember which Saturday.  So we convened a meeting.  

I chaired the meeting and I introduced the subject and said how it had come into existence and then Hinc took the floor and Shiman took the floor, and approximately ten of us thought about the issue and we decided to set up the children of Ruhengeri association, and at a later date this was to become an association which was recognised by the relevant authorities. Now, the steering committee ‑‑ well, in view of the fact that we are talking about an assembly.  I was requested to become president of such an assembly and I said, no.  We preferred for the organisation to be taken in hand by citizens hailing from Ruhengeri itself.  Of course, within the steering committee, we installed Shiman who was ‑‑ Shiman's wife whose name was ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

The interpreter missed it.  

THE WITNESS:

We asked these two ex‑patriots to help us. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

The name of the wife ‑‑ 

THE WITNESS:

Her name was Josiane.  Josiane, repeats the witness, J‑O‑S‑I‑A‑N‑E.  So, at the specific moment in time, I believe that we had 150 children under our care and these children ‑‑ well, we were very happy with the action undertaken because we grouped them together by age.  And those who were older than 18 years of age -- well, those who could go to primary school and those who had left primary school, we were wondering what all these different age groups could do.  This was an organisation and children were put back in primary school and I underline the fact.  
I occasionally went to the headquarters of the organisation with a view to asking how the children were doing.  I remember that when I received the results at the end of the school year in primary, I could see that the results were good and we were happy with them.  So with Shiman and Hinc, we thought to ourselves that we would do everything in our power to make sure that our project came up with results and if possible we shall then give our experience to other people.  That was our project and I hope that some of those children are still alive today.  
Unfortunately, we did not call as a witness the director of this organisation because he would spoken to you of the staff of this orphanage.  I never wondered whether amongst those children there were any Tutsi, whether amongst the members of staff there were any Tutsi.  But once I was here, I was obliged to have my team investigate as to the ethnicity of the members of the orphanage and I heard there were some Tutsi children.  I heard that amongst the staff, there were two social workers women who were Tutsi.  But when I was in Ruhengeri still, I never concerned myself with finding out the ethnic origins of the orphans or the staff working in the orphanage.  So, I shall make the opportunity ‑‑ take the opportunity here to establish a certain element of my defence.  Amongst those children ‑‑ well, this occurred in the months of April, May, June.  And the orphanage carried on working until it went into exile.  There were some of the children who were 17, 15, 14 years of age.  So why, Augustin Bizimungu as ops commander of Ruhengeri, who found that amongst these children who can be seen as a tangible source of individuals, who could fight the Tutsi at a specific moment in time, why did I not take that opportunity?  
I went to spend all my weekends at Nzirorera's mother's house with a view to meeting students to tell them to kill Tutsi.  Well, why wouldn't I just take those youngsters who had lost their parents, who I might even be able to train and then tell them to mobilise themselves because they had lost a parent here or a parent there.  So what I'm trying to say, is that I told you about the propaganda, the misinformation that was far from reality and, unfortunately, it is deplorable this misinformation.  I will have the opportunity to come back to this at length when we talk about the meetings at Nzirorera's. 

Q.
The document or statute of the association, I believe has already been exhibited as Exhibit D. 288.

THE WITNESS:

I'm sorry, Counsel, I'd like to have access to this document because there is, in fact, an excerpt that I'd like to underline.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:
Yes, of course, it was on the way.  Very well, thank you, Mr. Registrar.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

General Bizimungu, I think, you don't ‑‑ there is no dispute about ‑‑ I don't think there is a challenge you are establishing this home for the children.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
We shall, however, outline and draw your attention to certain excerpts within the document.  I'd like to draw your attention to page 7, I believe, in the list of founding members.  I'm sorry.  It is page 6.  This is the list of founding members and point five.  

A.
I'm sorry, Counsel, but in the document that I have, can you tell me where I can find this?  

Q.
Yes, I'd like to draw your attention to the last list of founding members.  I believe that it is the sixth page of the document.

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Message from the English booth.  In our document page 6 does not have such a list, Mr. President.

THE WITNESS:

Yes, very well, Counsel.  

BY ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Now, you can see that your name is under point five of said list.  

A.
Yes, and my signature, too.  

Q.
Yes, it is indeed your signature that is appended to this page, is it not, or at least your name?  And as to the rest of the document, General, that is a good deal of information that has already been adduced into evidence.  What I'd like you to do is to briefly summarize the important elements throughout this document? 

A.
I think I shall follow the President's instructions.  I can't find exactly where we are in the document.  However, somewhere in the document is written that in terms of historical background, it was my idea to set it up.  Now, there are some items that can be dangerous for society.  It is written that some things are somewhat dangerous from the point of view of revenge. 

Q.
Yes, this item is to be found at page 3 of the document.  At point two of the document ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Which the interpreters have not found yet, different page numbering.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Paragraph one after point two, as a point of departure.  General Bizimungu, have you found the point in the document? 

A.
I was looking for the second point.  However, with your leave, Counsel, I believe we should not dwell on this point because the document speaks for itself. 

Q.
And I would also draw your attention to point four to be found at page five for the second element in question that we want to draw to the attention of the Trial Chamber.  Now, this document has already been entered into evidence.  General Bizimungu.  You know better than I do that the RPF always attempted to justify its attack and its war against Rwanda in view of two elements invoked by the RPF.  The RPF attempted to justify its armed intervention by invoking the question of the return of refugees and the question also as to the Democratic process that was lacking in Rwanda.  What do you think of the two arguments advanced by the RPF with a view to justifying its incursion?  Now, with relevance or with reference to the question of the refugees, what is your view on this point? 

A.
Now, I don't believe that my contribution will be very significant on this issue.  In the sector where I was to be found, the military sector where I was commander of the various units, I was not indirect contact with this issue.  There were, however, people who were in more direct contact with this.  And I believe that one can refer to historical documents on this subject and we might be able to come back to this with one of our expert witnesses.  However, as a citizen, I followed what was going on, the various debates, even if I was not in the forefront.  General Ndindiliyimana and the people who were addressing this issue directly, I knew there was a programme in the year 19 ‑‑ 1989, that had been set up and according to what we heard, the RPF was attacking because it could see that the refugee return programme in the sense that the Rwandan government was very resolved on this point to make it happen.  That there were other reasons that were not said.  They found that they wanted to be a bit ahead of the government on this.  But the refugee problem was actually being resolved at the time.  

Even if there were difficulties, the UNHCR was involved, the government of Rwanda, there were other people involved, as well.  And I'm sure that General Ndindiliyimana will say more on the subject than I will because he was directly involved and I hope also that our expert witness will address the issue. 
Q.
With your permission, General, regarding that issue of the return of refugees.  We have already tendered two documents, D. 262 which is the report of the last joint meeting of the ministerial committee between Rwanda and Uganda.  That document reflects the meeting in ‑‑ held in Uganda between 


14th to 17th November 1989, and that D. 262.  I also want to refer the Trial Chamber to Exhibit D. 261, which is a report of the third meeting of the joint ministerial council on the issue of the refugees, and it was held from the 27th to the 30th of November 1989. Those two documents are already in evidence.  

Now, regarding the democratisation process, I did not know, General Bizimungu, whether you are already familiar with a document of the OAU entitled, "Report on the genocide in Rwanda" and it is dated 2nd of May 2000.  Are you familiar with that document of the Organisation of African Unity on the Rwandan genocide, dated 2nd May 2000? 

A.
Well, there are many such documents and maybe if you can show me, and I will see whether I have already seen them.
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BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
I draw your attention to paragraph 6.10 to paragraph 6.14 of the document.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Once again, Mr. Registrar, if you can present a copy to the witness.  

The last page of this document is the English translation of the French version which is being produced.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Are you there, General Bizimungu? 

A.
Yes.  You have referred me to the relevant paragraphs. 

Q.
Very well.  I was referring to paragraphs 6.10 to 6.14.  And I want to start with 6.10 ‑‑ or, rather, 6.12.  

A.
That's where it begins with "After all"?  

Q.
Yes.  And this relates to the two preceding paragraphs.  And I'll read out excerpts to you, and ask for your comments.  

6.10 says the following:  "Inevitably, there are many questions about the invasion's timing, motives, appropriateness, and consequences; equally inevitable are profound differences of opinions.  This matter, since part of the propaganda war still being waged today, revolves around the legitimacy of the invasion of October 1st, 1990, and, therefore, the legitimacy of the current government."  

The next paragraph: "Even the Hutu, who were opposed to Habyarimana, for example, and they disavowed ethnic categories, most have felt the attack.  What right had this band of unknown soldiers to invade a sovereign country with the aim of taking over its government by force?  Most of them were probably not born in Rwanda and had no known roots in the country.  They certainly did not have the support of the majority of Rwandans and maybe not even the support of their own people.  They were supported by a neighbouring state with which Rwanda had diplomatic ties."  

And lastly, the text states as follows:  "After all, and even the RPF was of this opinion during the subsequent negotiations, that anyone who had been away for more than 10 years had no further claim on property that had once belonged to their families.  So what entitlements could be had by those who had been away for 25 or 30 years and whose families had fled when they were still three years old, as was the case of Paul Kagame, Museveni's former deputy head of military intelligence, or those who had been born in Uganda and who were coming in Rwanda for the first time in their lives.  How could one trust a group of armed foreign invaders who claimed to represent all Rwandans, whereas everyone knew that the group was mainly made up of Tutsi and that the entire leadership was Tutsi."  

General Bizimungu, I would like you to comment on this, specifically the excerpt in which it is stated that these people could no longer lay a claim to their property, and that some of them were setting foot on Rwandan soil for the first time, and also the fact that everyone was aware that the majority of the members of that group were Tutsi and the leadership was entirely Tutsi.  

If you can comment on that within the context of the pretext used by the RPF to attack Rwanda in October 1990, which was the return of the refugees.  

A.
Thank you, Counsel.  This time I will really do what I'm supposed to do:  I will be brief.  

The excerpt is clear.  It was not necessary.  The arguments are fallacious.  What they wanted was power.  They wanted to take over power entirely.  

Now, regarding the return of the refugees, a preliminary remark must be made by myself.  No citizen of the world, whoever he is, is prevented of having the right to be a refugee.  It is a pity that one should have doctors because there are patients; but one would have wished that there should be no patients, but the consequence of that would have been that you wouldn't have any nurses.  Unfortunately, we are human beings and there are problems everywhere in the world.  

But to the extent possible, no one should actually be a refugee.  They have an inalienable right to live in their country.  All those who left in '59 or '72, all of them had the right to return to their country.  And they had to return to the country, so it was necessary to study the modalities of their return so that those who were returning, if they do not have land, efforts should be made to see how they could survive.  

So, it was the political authorities who had to resolve that issue and prevent the pretexts that could be used by some people.  And I believe that even if there were delays in the implementation of the process, the process was ongoing and should not have been short‑circuited.  Because when the RPF attacked, they were never able to justify that the process, which was already ongoing in 1988 and '89 between the government of Rwanda, the UNHCR, and the government of Uganda, as well as the other stakeholders, the RPF never mentioned that the process would not be concluded.  Of course, when they attacked, everything came to an end and the problem of refugees was forgotten.  

But what I want to say in brief is that no Rwandan must be forced to be a refugee.  The RPF is currently in power, and wisdom should show them that they have suffered from that problem of refugees, and they should normally try to resolve the problem of several million refugees who are outside of the country.  And that would be a good thing for my country, so I totally subscribe to what is stated here. 

Q.
Further on, General, paragraph 6.13, and this is still the OAU report.  "We have to admit that these issues seem to us to be quite reasonable, and that it is not surprising that Habyarimana and his supporters did not have any problem" ‑‑ 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Where are you reading, Counsel?  6.3 is not here. 

MR. TAMBADOU:  

I believe he said 6.13, but we don't have that in English anyway.  

But I want my learned friend to confirm that this is an extract from the OAU report, because on the footnotes it does appear that it was taken from the OAU cite.  I just want a confirmation from him, which I'll double‑check during the lunch break, because we have the report.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Q.
What we have here ‑‑ and, in fact, we also have the complete report, and we did not want to overburden the Court.  In the English version, you have 6.10, 6.11 and 6.12.  And since you do not have the English version of 6.13 and 6.14, it is for that reason that I want to read it out so that you can have an interpretation. 

So, Counsel, you have the exact title.  

6.13 states that "Habyarimana and his supporters did not have any difficulties appealing to the vast majority of Rwandans to unite themselves against the invaders.  However, the crime of the Hutu leaders were ‑‑ was their cynical decision to play the ethnic card.  Secondly, the timing of the invasion by the RPF leads us to believe that the strategy was to divide Habyarimana, even though reticently was shown proof of a new opening towards multiparty democracy and the exiled people, which made it possible for him to boost his popularity, which had been declining, and to undermine the credibility of the RPF.  While the Tutsis outside of the country claimed to be in favour of a new democracy and the right of the exiled people to return home, they launched their invasion at the same moment that these issues were being discussed in Rwanda." 

So there are two aspects here.  The unity of the majority of the Rwandan population against the RPF attack of October 1990, and there is also the issue of democracy and the return of the refugees.  This shows that there were two false claims used by the RPF to justify their attack against Rwanda.  

So, you have the unity of most Rwandans against the invasion of the RPF, and these two false excuses used by the RPF.  What are your observations?  That is, you who were in the field?  

A.
It would be difficult for me to answer you because I elaborated on the consequences of the RPF attack, as well as its impact on the ethnic issues.  I dwelt at length on that.  On the other hand, I never heard that an appeal had been made to the majority of Rwandans.  If they are trying to insinuate that it was that majority of Hutus ‑‑ of Rwandans who were Hutu, the attack was not welcomed by the majority of Rwandans, both Hutus and Tutsis, and everyone else who were in Rwanda.  

There are even open letters written by groups of Tutsis who supported Habyarimana.  We have tendered some of those letters into evidence.  Unfortunately, those who want to see problems only from an ethnic perspective are going to say, "Look, Habyarimana mobilised the majority of Hutus to support him."  That is not it.  There were reactions in Bigogwe.  Who is killed?  A Tutsi.  Who is killed in Kibilira is something that has to be denounced, that has to be condemned.  

But I do not believe this is as a result of the mobilisation of the government.  Because subsequently, some people who were responsible were punished ‑‑ or, removed from their positions.  So I do not believe it was the mobilisation of an ethnic group against another ethnic group, but it is a consequence that I cannot explain.  It is beyond my competence, because I was not within the political circles.  That is the first aspect.  

The second aspect is that Ambassador Flatten, who was in Rwanda ‑‑ I don't remember exactly, since when he came and testified here, he said he was in Rwanda, he kept abreast of the democratisation process, and he said that Habyarimana was truly open to that democratisation.  So, I do not know whether the ambassador of a major country, like the United States, has ‑‑ he has already given his assessment.  

Tomorrow, Counsel, I will give you the excerpt of the testimony of Ambassador Flatten.  I read that somewhere in his testimony in Military I.  He said Habyarimana was sincere with his efforts in the democratisation process.  Well, this report has been made ‑‑ they say that Habyarimana was reticent, but the others say he was sincere.  But what they do not say is that Habyarimana was against democratisation.  Even this report, which expresses a reservation by saying that there was some reticence, does not go as far as saying that he was against democratisation.  So, the RPF could not have had any lessons to give.  They were coming from Museveni's country.  

I am a Rwandan.  I live in an area which is close to the border with Uganda.  I have relatives in Rwanda.  I followed up what was happening in Uganda.  As a citizen, I was lucky to have received training and education.  As a soldier, I knew where the threat could come from.  And thirdly, I had relatives in Uganda.  So, it is not Museveni who could have given us lessons in democracy.  There was none in his country.  

Secondly, the RPF, which has destroyed Rwanda, what have they done in regard to democracy today?  They are taking refuge behind the genocide, which they provoked.  And so for anyone to say 

now ‑‑ what is being said now, where has the democratisation process gone so many years after this?  We have millions and millions of exiled Rwandans who are all being considered as Interahamwe, and so on.  Where is democracy in Rwanda today?  You had Faustin Twagiramungu, Nsengiyaremye and others that the RPF described at one point as moderates, and that they discarded later on.  

Where are they, those former prime ministers who were once in the RPF?  Are they fleeing away from that democracy being instituted by the RPF?  No.  There was propaganda at that time which was accepted by people, but the reality today shows the contrary.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Mr. President, could we have the break now?  

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Court is adjourned until 2:30.

(Court recessed from 1255H to 1435H)

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Good afternoon.  Court has resumed.  

Counsel, you may continue.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Thank you, Mr. President. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Remember, you have to keep in mind ‑‑ if you follow the faces of these ladies, you will know whether you are fast or not.  

THE WITNESS:

I promise to make an effort.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

But if you don't see any face at all, then we would have gotten into very serious problem.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
General, let us progress in an orderly manner, as much as possible, and take a look at a chronological view of the events that we need to present to this Court.  Obviously, we will not cover the entire chronology, given that most of that is already in evidence.  However, I would like us to highlight a number of items between the RPF attack of 1990 and the end of this tragedy which occurred in Rwanda; and that end, for me, is July 1994. 

My understanding is that when the RPF attacked on the 1st of October 1990, you were, indeed, involved in fighting off this invasion by the RPF.  Can you tell us, briefly, what your involvement in fighting off the RPF was from October 1990? 

A.
Counsel, maybe you will have to stop me at some point, because ‑‑ or, provide better guidelines.  Because from October 1990 to July 1994 is a rather extensive period. 

Q.
But, General, let us talk, for now, about 1 October 1990 at the time the RPF launched its attack.  What was your involvement, your participation, in fighting off the RPF from the 1st of October 1990 up to the time of the resolution of that particular attack, that is, in December 1990, for example? 

A.
When the RPF attacked on October 1, 1990, I was the commander of the Mukamira military camp and commander of the Ruhengeri commando battalion.  Immediately after the attack, the general staff ordered me to conduct a two‑pronged mission.  One, supervise the border, or monitor the border, within the sector under the Ruhengeri commando battalion.  And I must indicate that at that time there was no reference yet to operational sectors.  Every military jurisdiction, so to speak, had a specific sector to defend.  And in Ruhengeri, it was the commando battalion that was active, and it was my duty to command that particular battalion.  And I must say, again, that there was no reference to operational sectors at that time.  

In October 1990, therefore, I was charged to supervise the area under the command of the 

Ruhengeri commando battalion and to hold my unit on standby for possible intervention in another sector.  

Witnesses who have appeared before the Court may not have mentioned this clearly, but there was a time between the 3rd and the 7th when the general staff asked me to send a company to Kigali, and it is at the time when the capital had come under attack.  So the company would leave Rwamagana under the command of ‑‑ in fact, at the time two operational sectors had already been set up.  The first one was in Gabiro, and the second one was in Rwamagana.  The first operational sector was under the command of Nsabimana, while the second was under the command of Gatsinzi; and that was a sector which he was ‑‑ towards Rwamagana.  So, my company which I sent was under the orders of -- with Gatsinzi.  I believe that around the 9th the company came back under my command, and my full battalion was intact in Ruhengeri.  At that time Ruhengeri was not yet an operational sector.  

Around the 14th ‑‑ and I'm not certain about the exact date, it was either the 13th or the 14th, I received orders from the general staff to rally my battalion and to be on standby for possible deployment to Gabiro operational sector, which in the meantime had been set up. 

Then on the 15th I received another order which was a warning, and then I was issued an order to move, in which case the general staff ordered that I stop at Shyorongi.  Spelling for Shyorongi, C‑H‑Y‑O‑R‑O‑N‑G‑I (sic), Shyorongi.  

So in that order, we were asked to stop at Shyorongi and receive instructions from the general staff.  When I got to Shyorongi, I left better half of the battalion there, and went onto the general staff.  I was received by the G3, who took me to the deputy chief of staff, who then gave me the true and exact nature of my mission.  He said we are asking you to go to Gabiro secteur under the 

Colonel, Rwanyagasore's command.  Spelling:  R‑W‑A‑N‑Y‑A‑G‑A‑C‑O‑R‑E (sic).  Rwanyagasore, a lieutenant colonel.  I was provided his radio frequency, which was not available to me before then, and it enabled me to call him and have contact with him.  Well, I will spare you the details of that. 

So I went on.  I went back to Shyorongi, took my battalion with me, and moved on to Kisigoro, Kisigoro, K‑I‑S‑I‑G‑O‑R‑O, where the ‑‑ the headquarters of the ops‑Gabiro sector commando was located. 

Let me, however, also indicate that on that route from the 1st of October, fighting had been raging, and a Zairean contingent, which had come as reinforcement, was sent to that area.  The first commander of that sector was General Mahere from Zaire.  Mahere is spelled, M‑A‑H‑E‑R‑E.  However, around the 12th or 13th, or thereabouts, the Zairean contingent had to leave Gabiro abruptly.  They helped us, for sure, but they had to go back quickly towards Goma.  Goma is G‑O‑M‑A. 

Upon arrival, I introduced myself to my new commander.  He briefed me on the situation and told me the number of units we had, and that we would do reconnaissance the next day and attack the day after.  That was 16th for reconnaissance, and 17th for the attack. 

Unfortunately, this attack was unsuccessful, it failed, because at the time there was some phobia.  And it was a serious situation.  So, we re‑constituted ourselves, or we regrouped in Rwamagana, R‑W‑A‑M‑A‑G‑A‑N‑A.  Rwamagana.  So, the general staff appointed another commander because the former commander was dismissed from his duties and sent to the Kami camp of the military police and brought before a commission of enquiry.  The new commander was Major Rwendeye, spelled R‑W‑E‑N‑D‑E‑Y‑E, Rwendeye, at which point the units were reorganised and a number of them came under his sector.  

Prior to his appointment as commander of the Gabiro sector, Rwendeye was commander of the 

recce battalion.  That means that Rwendeye became commander of the Gabiro sector, which included the recce commander ‑‑ the recce battalion, the Gabiro battalion, and the Kanguru (sic) battalion, I believe.  

THE WITNESS:

So, we were able to recapture Gabiro, and then link up later on with ops‑Nyagatare, spelled N‑Y‑A‑G‑A‑T‑A‑R‑E.  Nyagatare.  

On the 30th of October, we recapture the border at the Kagitumba bridge.  Spelling for Kagitumba:  K‑A‑G‑I‑T‑U‑B‑A (sic) ‑‑ K‑A‑G‑I‑T‑U‑M‑B‑A.  That was the first significant victory of the 

Rwandan armed forces over the RPF, which then got into disarray.  Fled ‑‑ or, went back to Uganda while some of the combatants in Kagitumba settled around the border between Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda.  

At that time, we were sailing rather high, and we wanted to chase the enemy even further on as far as Uganda, but the chief of staff ordered us not to cross the border and not to shoot across the border.  It is at that time that we were able to see RPF combatants on the other side saying, "Hello, how are you?"  And mocking us, so to speak.  

But what intrigued us was that we did not believe that all the soldiers had gone back to Uganda, because of the national park.  I have already spelt out Nyagatare.  And in that sector, we were asked to remain at the Kagitumba bridge and also cover the area to the west, whereas the ops‑Gabiro commander ordered us to go through the national park as exhaustively as possible and clean it up.  Obviously, at that time we were not privileged to have the recce battalion machinery with us, since we were operating in the forest.  So it is my battalion on which fell ‑‑ it is on my battalion that the main mission of covering the border between Tanzania and Rwanda fell; and that is the area which is in the forest, and it is there that my battalion ran into major resistance from the RPF which had fallen back and taken positions within the park and had set up a major base.  That is what was referred to as the Namuhemura battle.  N‑A‑M‑U‑H‑E‑M‑E‑U‑A (sic).  

So, throughout the month of November, I was busy working the national park under the orders of Rwendeye, my commander.  Unfortunately, on the 17th of November, while Rwendeye was on his way to inspect a unit at some location within the park, he was waylaid ‑‑ or, ambushed by the RPF, and we lost many men, including the major.  He would be taken back to the camp, but he was already dead.  

The major, who was a doctor, also was caught in that ambush.  However, after Rwendeye's death, the Gabiro and Nyagatare sectors were merged and placed under the command of 

Lieutenant Colonel Nsabimana.  And this became the ops‑Mutara sector.  Mutara is spelt M‑U‑T‑A‑R‑A.  So, I continued to carry on my mission in the park under the orders of the new commander.  

Around the 3rd of December, we had almost completed mopping up the park.  However, in the meantime the ops‑Kibungo was created.  And I spell Kibungo, K‑I‑B‑U‑N‑G‑O.  Ops‑Kibungo, as I said, was set up and started to carry out operations within the park from Kibungo, so much so that on the 

3rd of December we linked up with them.  And at that point we were certain that although one or 

two elements may be within the park, we were of the opinion that the park had been totally mopped.  

On the 7th of December, Major General Habyarimana came to talk to the units and to the Rwandan people.  He said that the mop up of the park had been fully conducted.  He spoke of the attacks by the Inyenzi from '62 to '67, and he highlighted the fact that those attacks had disrupted the harmony that existed in Rwanda before then, and called on all Rwandans to think each day, each morning, be they Gahutu (sic), Gatwa (sic) or Gatutsi (sic), of the national anthem, and to have a sense of solidarity, unity, peace and progress.  

That is what I gathered from his speech at that time.  When he came under those circumstances that I have already described, and as one of my witnesses already mentioned, at that time it was my ‑‑ one of my battalions under my command that provided the military honours to the commander in‑chief of the Rwandan armed forces at that time.  

On the 13th I was told that given what my battalion had been able to accomplish over the past 

two months, the battalion would be given leave to rest for two months, and that they would be able to re‑energise and get ready for a new mission.  So I went back to Mukamira.  And two days after, I received a telegram ordering my unit to go immediately to Byumba.  Two or three days after that we went to Byumba, on or around the 17th.  

So I went to ops‑Byumba, and the commander at the time was Colonel Nchinzirungu.  Spelling, N‑C‑H‑I‑N‑Z‑I ‑‑ 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Sorry, Mr. President.  It was too fast for the interpreters. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

You have to repeat that again.  Spelling. 

THE WITNESS:

Nchinzirungu, N‑C‑H‑I‑N‑Z‑I‑R‑U‑N‑G‑U. 

Now, I must indicate when I say two or three days after the 13th, we should not really insist on that point, because the fact of the matter is that on the 17th I was in Byumba.  

I arrived Byumba, and I was at the disposal of the new commander.  And as some of my witnesses have said, even including certain details that I no longer remembered, I had lost sight of the fact that it was on the 24th of ‑‑ or, the 25th in the morning that my battalion changed the R4 rifles.  And while I was in Byumba, practically in my own area, I learned that Ruhengeri had been attacked.  And I believe we received that information in the morning of the 23rd.  The sector commander gave me a notification order.  

And I would like to point out that the usual practice is based on the rules of the general staff.  When I'm placed under the command of the commander of an ops sector, I no longer have any links with the general staff.  I am a direct subordinate of the sector commander.  So, he's the one who receives orders from the general staff and transmits them to me.  So he told me, your battalion has to prepare itself to move to Ruhengeri.  But given that you are occupying an advanced position, you will not be involved in our Byumba operations.  We will occupy the Kaniga hills with the paracommando battalion.  There has been a catastrophe there.  

While I was at Mutara, there had been massive recruitments of young battalion members who had been given a 15‑day training at Bigogwe.  And they had been assigned, or positioned, in that sector which had just been created.  Byumba, and another part in Butaro, which is in Ruhengeri.  And Butaro is spelled B‑U‑T‑A‑R‑O.  

And so when we arrived Kaniga, we found that there had been carnage.  These poor farmers, who had become soldiers within a period of 15 days, had been massacred in the trenches.  And, unfortunately, most of them were naked; this means that the RPF had taken both their rifles and their uniforms.  This is probably just a detail, but it is very important, because subsequently, during its operations, the RPF used the various uniforms of the Rwandan armed forces to the extent possible.  

Now, let me come back to my movement from Byumba towards Ruhengeri.  On the 23rd, I received orders from my sector commander that I had to prepare myself, but that I should begin by preparing one company out of the three that I had ‑‑ 

MR. TAMBADOU: 

I'm sorry to interrupt you, General.  

But, My Lord, if the general can be more specific about the date.  If he can give the day, the month, and the year.  Because he kept referring to the 23rd.  I suspect it may be January, but if he could just do that.  As Your Lordship please. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

(Inaudible) ... as much as possible.  

THE WITNESS:

Very well.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Thank you, Mr. President.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
I will agree, Mr. Witness, that you should include the year.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

But if you follow, attentively, then you will understand.  

That proves that Mr. Tambadou is probably not following attentively.

THE WITNESS:

Well, if Mr. Tambadou has a problem that means he is correct, and we are going to fix it.  

Thank you for reminding me of that.  

When I talk about the dates in January, the first attack against Ruhengeri took place in the night of the 22nd to the 23rd of January 1991.  I began by talking about my stay in Mutara, and this was in the year 1990.  It was around the 17th of December that I moved to the Byumba sector, that is, 

December 1990.  The attack on Ruhengeri happened in the night of the 22nd to 23rd January 1991.  

On the 23rd, I received notification from my sector commander asking me to set aside one company which would move as soon as possible to Ruhengeri.  That company, that was under the command of Ntamagezo, left on the 24th.  I believe that is what happened.  But in the afternoon of the 24th, with the bulk of my battalion, we spent the night in Byumba in the Byumba stadium.  

In the morning ‑‑ and this is something I had forgotten, but one of my witnesses talked about it here.  We received new equipment.  We had FAL rifles, which were replaced with new R4 rifles manufactured in South Africa. 

On the 25th we began our movement to Ruhengeri, and it was in that process that I saw a helicopter over flying the area.  We saw it land at a location.  We stopped and we tried to see what was happening.  And, in fact, it was the deputy chief of staff who was coming back from Ruhengeri in the company of certain officers, including the G3, Colonel Hakizimana, and it is spelled H‑A‑K‑I‑Z‑I‑M‑A‑N‑A.  He was the G3 of the gendarmerie.  There was also Major Rwabalinda, and that is spelled R‑W‑A‑B‑A‑L‑I‑N‑D‑A.  They were in the company of the deputy chief of staff.  

Thank you.

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Says the witness to the interpreters.  

THE WITNESS:

Let me repeat.  Rwabalinda R‑W‑A‑B‑A‑L‑I‑N‑D‑A.  Rwabalinda.  

I discussed with the chief of staff.  He briefed me on the situation.  And, in fact, he presented the situation as it was in Ruhengeri after the attack.  The commander of operations, 

Lieutenant Colonel Uwihoreye, and that is spelled U‑W‑I‑H‑O‑R‑E‑Y‑E.  And then he gave the floor to the G3 of the Rwandan army, Major Rwabalinda, who described the situation to me.  And after that, the deputy chief of staff told me that my mission was to place myself under the command of the ops sector commander.  And he said, "Please do not go beyond Mukungwa bridge."  And Mukungwa is spelled M‑U‑K‑U‑N‑G‑W‑A.  "Please do not go beyond the Mukungwa bridge, because the situation is 

clear ‑‑ it's not clear in town, even though the paracommando battalion is inside the town, they are engaged in combat with the RPF."  

And so I moved on.  And before Mukungwa, I found a liaison officer there who had been sent to wait for me, and he provided me with all the necessary information, the frequencies necessary for me to have access to the network of the Ruhengeri ops command.  And we started moving tactically.  And it was at the end of the ‑‑ or, rather, in the evening that I arrived Ruhengeri.  I presented myself to the sector commander.  I met certain battalion commanders there.  So, the sector commander was there with his staff, including the S3, and Lieutenant Colonel Stanislas Hakizimana, spelled H‑A‑K‑I‑Z‑I‑M‑A‑N‑A.  The S4 was Commander Mpozembizi.  And Mpozembizi is spelled M‑P‑O‑Z‑E‑M‑I‑Z‑I (sic).  Mpozembizi.  There was also the commander of the paracommando battalion, as well as other officers. 

Immediately after having greeted the sector commander, he organised a meeting to transmit orders.  He briefed us on the situation.  And I really needed that, because I was new there.  I was told what had already been done and what had to be done the following day.  I was given my position that I had to follow during the Landozi (phonetic) attack.  I had to move from the neighbourhood to the left, pass through the cathedral, using the tarred road towards Nkumba, and there I had to turn left and move in the direction of the volcanoes.  That is the mission that was assigned to me. 

I summoned my company commanders that same night.  I described the situation to them, and conveyed the orders.  I started with the general situation, the position of the friendly forces, and the position of the enemy forces, the resources available, and the time schedules. 

The following morning, what we referred to as D‑day, we began our operations.  Apparently, the enemy that I had confronted in Mutara was not the same enemy which ‑‑ that was in Ruhengeri, and it was not the same enemy that had been in Byumba.  The intensity of the fire and the number of men was low, such that our advance did not come across much resistance.  A soldier would die here or another one there, but it was not a catastrophic situation.  The enemy was carrying on a war of attrition.  They had set up base in the volcanoes.  And during the night of the 27th to the 28th ‑‑

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
And which year was that, General? 

A.
It was still in 1991, and still in January.  Thank you very much.  So that was on the night of the 


27th of January. 

Later on, during the night, my sector commander, Lieutenant Colonel Uwihoreye, asked me to come to the command post.  And after I arrived there, he said, "Look, you are going to replace me."  He showed me the telegram from general staff appointing me as the commander of the Ruhengeri ops sector.  And I can stop there.  

Q.
General, I'm sure I'm asking good questions, also, and I believe that the exercise is necessary. 

So, before the 1st ‑‑ rather, between the 1st of October 1990 right up to the 27th of January 1991, you were permanently engaged in the execution of the missions assigned to you, is that what I am to understand?  

A.
Counsel, I did not have any alternative; but I was also proud of that.  

Q.
And so the new stage in your career began; that is, as commander of the Ruhengeri ops sector.  Can we continue with the same exercise, given that you have had time to have a breather?  So can we continue from the 27th of January 1991?  

A.
Yes, Counsel.  But since I also know a few things about my case, I would like to say something about my relationship with Lieutenant Colonel Uwihoreye. 

Q.
Well, that was the second question I was going to put to you, General, so you can proceed.  

A.
In his allegations against me, Witness GAP ‑‑ and we will come back to that later ‑‑ claimed that I arrested Colonel Uwihoreye and I put him in a jeep and people took him in Kigali. 

MR. TAMBADOU: 

If I may, My Lord.  I would ask My Lord to request the general not to make comments about the testimony of other witnesses.  He can give his version of events, but not to make comments about what other witnesses have testified to here.  As Your Lordship please.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

With your leave, Mr. President.  If the Accused himself cannot make observations about allegations made against him relating to specific dates, I do not see how he can conduct his defence adequately.  So, this is an essential issue.  The Accused can tell us about the positions he occupied, his activities.  Whereas, witnesses have come and made allegations regarding statements that he might have made and what he might have done.  So, he can be allowed to justify himself.  I believe that this is a fundamental legal principle. 

MR. TAMBADOU: 

My Lord, with all due respect, my objection is a legal one.  The general, obviously, can defend himself.  He has the right to explain, whatever.  My problem is that he does not need to make comments about the testimony of other witnesses, My Lord.  

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Counsel, in this instance what he's trying to say is that this witness who came said certain thing.  And he says his version, referring to that witness.  So it could be ‑‑ not ‑‑ he's not commenting on that witness, at least he's explaining his conduct. 

MR. TAMBADOU: 

As Your Lordship please.  I would certainly abide by My Lord's comments.  But it's for my learned friend on the other side to lead him on the evidence that he wants to get from him in a way that would allow the general to respond to those allegations, without the general necessarily referring to the comments made by the other witnesses.  But if My Lords feel this is fine, as Your Lordship please. 

MR. PRESIDENT: 

Yes.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
The question was, General, can you describe your relationship with him? 

A.
I had a very good relationship with Lieutenant Colonel Uwihoreye.  When he was relieved of his duties by the minister of defence ‑‑ there is a Rwandan proverb which states that ‑‑  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:

Well, the witness said it in Kinyarwanda, and he added ‑‑ 

THE WITNESS:

I do not know how they will translate it.  If you see the stick that has just been used to strike your rival, then you throw it far away.  And that is a literal translation.  

To begin with, Uwihoreye was a friend.  When I arrived Ruhengeri 1988, he was the commander of ‑‑ I was the commander of the Ruhengeri parabattalion commando, and there is also another commander.  So he was the highest ranking and most senior officer in the Ruhengeri area.  He was the commander of EGENA, I was the commander of the Ruhengeri paracommando battalion, and there was another commander of the Ruhengeri squadron.  Each unit was autonomous, but the normal practice was that since he was the most senior officer, he was referred to as the region commander, or area commander.  He did not give us orders.  And that title is a title that has been used.  It means he was the most senior and high ranking commander.  But he did not have any orders to give to the squadron that was there, or to the paracommando battalion, because these units had their own different missions.  

When I went to Mutara, since I was the one responsible for the border area, I left without anyone being assigned to be responsible for that border area.  I do not know how the command proceeded, but subsequently I learned that the Ruhengeri operational command was set up, and responsibility given to Colonel Uwihoreye.  So the fact that the Ruhengeri operational command ‑‑ or, sector was set up automatically, meant that Uwihoreye had to give up his command of EGENA.  So, another person was appointed.  The name is spelled N‑Z‑A‑P‑F‑A‑K‑U‑M‑U‑N‑Z‑U (sic).  Nzapfakumunsi.  Nzapfakumunsi.  He now became the new commander of EGENA.  

In Ruhengeri, there were three camps.  Camp Muhoza and camp Muhona (sic).  Camp Muhoza was a camp that I had occupied before going to Mukamira.  But when I went to Mukamira, this camp was handed over to the gendarmerie.  So, the minister of national defence decided that this camp would be occupied by the gendarmerie.  So, you had the Ruhengeri squadron which occupied two camps, Muhoza camp and Mubona camp.  But it was only under a single command.  There was also EGENA.  
(Pages 31 to 45 by Vicki Eastvold)
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THE WITNESS: (continuing)
And so Uwihoreye was appointed commander of Ruhengeri operational sector.  He was no longer commander of EGENA.  He was given Mubona camp where he could set up his command post.  The squadron commander went to Muhoza camp, and it was Karemera at that time who was commander of Ruhengeri gendarmerie squadron.  And that name is spelt K‑A‑R‑A‑M‑E‑R‑A (sic).  This means that at the beginning ‑‑ and I was not there at the time.  I learnt about it subsequently upon my arrival.  

So, we had the Ruhengeri squadron at Camp Muhoza.  We had EGENA, which did not change location, but whose commander had changed.  And then we had the Ruhengeri operational sector, which occupied Camp Mubona.  And I will spell it, too, M‑U‑B‑O‑N‑A, and then you have M‑U‑H‑O‑Z‑A. So, Mubona camp and Muhoza camp.  However, in the meantime in the Mubona camp, there were certain members of the gendarmerie squadron and they stayed there.  Only the members of the command were going to work at the Muhoza camp.  

Now, after the attack of the 22nd to the 23rd of January, the Muhoza camp, that is where you had the gendarmerie squadron, and the command was practically liquidated.  Even the commander was killed.  When I arrived there I saw his dead body and the dead bodies of about 40 gendarmes.  Since then the Muhoza camp was no longer occupied by the gendarmerie.  When attempts were made to reconstitute the gendarmerie squadron, they stayed at the Mubona camp where the command post of the 

ops sector was located.  So after my appointment as the commander of operations, I went and saw my predecessor.  And later on, we shared that camp with the Ruhengeri squadron.  So that would become a stopover for various units required to intervene in that Ruhengeri sector.  


From the time I got to Ruhengeri till the time Uwihoreye and myself separated from each other, we continued to maintain good relations, and our families paid visits to each other, either in Ruhengeri itself when we were still there, or in Mukamira when I was ‑‑ when I was in Mukamira and he was in EGENA, we would visit each other.  He would come to my home, and I would go to his home, and our family members knew themselves (sic).  Now, when I was appointed to replace him, no one ordered me to arrest him, because he was regularly at meetings in Kigali.  He was, rather, transferred to Kigali.  

And on the 28th, Colonel Serubuga and Rwagafilita, who were both deputy chiefs of staff for the army and the gendarmerie, were in attendance.  Serubuga is spelt S‑E‑R‑U‑B‑U‑G‑A, Serubuga.  And Rwagafilita is R‑W‑A‑G‑A‑F‑I‑L‑I‑T‑A, Rwagafilita.  They both arrived in the morning of the 28th, having received the telegram which was issued at night.  

So in the morning they arrived.  And in the telegram, it had been mentioned that they would be coming on the 28th in the morning to hand over and take over.  I don't remember what time they arrived, but I know that it was before noon.  They came with two G2 ‑‑ two G3 officers; Hakizimana, whose name I have already spelt, and Rwagafilita.  We met in a hall at the command office of the ops commander, and we were told that the minister of defence had decided to transfer the command of the ops sector to Augustin Bizimungu, who was at the time a major, and Uwihoreye had been transferred to the general staff of the national gendarmerie.  They said that they had come to ensure that the transfer telegram was not interpreted in different ways, and that they had come to ensure expeditious dispatch of the transfer so that the commander can take over immediately and the other to move to Kigali.  So, there was a handing over and taking over ceremony, and everything else would proceed in that manner.  That is how I became the ops commander of Ruhengeri and took office.  And that was the nature of the relationship that I had with Commander Uwihoreye.  

Colonel Uwihoreye, of course, did not have much to hand over to me in terms of the sector, because generally, the commander really does not do much because the sector is managed by the general staff, the S1, S2 and S4 who managed the affairs of the sector.  The commander himself does not have any direct management duties as such, so it is his general staff that actually manages the sector.  So I took over.  And I was aware of what my predecessor had been blamed for; and, therefore, I did not have to fall into the same situation as he had, if I did not want to be dismissed from my position.  So these issues of regionalism, and what have you, were recurrent.  Uwihoreye is a native of Gisenyi, almost the same area as Colonel Serubuga.  He had once been the G2 of the Rwandan army.  And here I was, from the front line, and I have now been appointed to replace him.  

I do not believe that there was any particular relation to regions or whatever factors that may have played into the appointment.  However, what matters is that two days later, when he was ready, I gave him a vehicle to enable him travel to Kigali where he had been transferred to the general staff of the gendarmerie.  It is only two months later that he was arrested at the general staff of the gendarmerie.  I have nothing to do with the arrest of Colonel Uwihoreye, and that is unfortunate. 
BY MR. ST-LAURENT:
Q.
Now, General, you are appointed ops-Ruhengeri commander and there is a government in place in Rwanda, is that the case?  What type of government do you have in place at the time and what are its leanings? 

A.
We are talking about January 1991.  At that time the government was headed by 


President Habyarimana.  There was no prime minister.  It was the government of the national revolutionary movement for development, that was the MRND.  And maybe we need to revisit this point to clarify the distinction between the two MRNDs with the same acronym, but different in nature.  The MRND of 1975 was the one in which all Rwandans were automatically members, including myself.  And it is that MRND ‑‑ or, that government that was in place.  But from the 1st of October 1990, I lost contact with all those who were referred to as MRND, be it the new or the former format.  I simply had contact with my soldiers, with my military hierarchy and with my enemy, the RPF.  


From October 1, 1990, all I can say indeed is that there was no more politics.  In fact, we were not politically inclined, although we attended a few rallies here and there.  But after that, I was completely disconnected from all of that.  And the government in place at the time was the government headed by Habyarimana, and multiparty politics had not yet been introduced.  There were indications here and there that things were going to happen.  A commission had been set up, I believe even before the war, to reflect on the option of multiparty politics. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Inaudible) 

THE WITNESS:

Okay.  Very well.  Very well, Mr. President, thank you.  

What I was saying, then, is that there was a wave towards multipartyism and things were moving ‑‑ moving in the background and we were moving in other directions.  But we got wind of what was going on here and there.  We knew that a commission had been set up to look into these matters.  And we found out later on while we were busy on the field that a new constitution had been adopted; that is, the constitution of 10th June, which introduced multiparty politics.  

So, political parties began to register.  The MRND, old format, that is the one to which all Rwandans belonged, disappeared, but the politicians found another formula to maintain the MRND within that context of multiparty politics.  

And then there was the birth of other parties, MRND, PSD, and what have you.  The president, therefore, would appoint a prime minister to form the first multiparty politics, but we were following this from a distance.  Because ‑‑ I was only following this from a distance, and I was involved mainly in my activities as a soldier.  And so, we were able to learn that Mr. Nsanzimana had been appointed by the president.  Nsanzimana is N‑Z‑A‑N‑Z‑I‑M‑A‑N‑A (sic).  Nsanzimana had been appointed prime minister and was to form the first multiparty government.  So at that time the parties were playing their politics while we were, at our own level, involved in the war.  So Nsanzimana's government was set up in September ‑‑ oh, he was appointed in September 1991, and he set up his government on the 31st.  But I believe that General Ndindiliyimana knows these things better than I because he was part of that government.  I think it was on the 31st of December or the 1st of January 1992.  And it is at that time that this government was put in place.  And it would appear that there were some difficulties with that government because it ‑‑ I can only say "it appears" because I was busy in my sector fighting off the RPF with my soldiers.  That was what I was doing.  

Then there would be successive governments, Nsengiyaremye and Agathe.  I simply wanted to put this in focus to underscore the fact that in January 1991 the government in place was much like the government before the RPF attack.  


Now, whether that government was reshuffled or not, I do not recall.  All I am saying is that at the time I was appointed ops commander, the minister of defence was Major General Habyarimana, Juvénal, chief of staff of the army, chief of staff of the gendarmerie and president of the republic.  I can confirm that. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Now, General, you, yourself, from the time you were appointed ops-Ruhengeri commander to the time of the advent of Nsanzimana's government of 30th December 1991, what were your activities?  You said that you were busy with your soldiers and the RPF.  Were there any special events that occurred during that period relating to your position or your duties as ops commander of Ruhengeri? 

A.
After the 27th of January 1991, the RPF returned to the volcanoes and to Uganda, and that became a challenge for us.  It was necessary for to us challenge ‑‑ to recapture the borders which were at the summit ‑‑ or, the top of the volcanoes.  And to get to those borders was a big and major challenge for us.  My mission, therefore, was to recapture the entire territory of the sector under my command.  I carried out several unsuccessful attempts, I must say.  But in the meantime, the RPF continued to intensify its activities and actions and increased the number of attacks on Ruhengeri.  This point has not been mentioned to the extent that the RPF attempted on several occasions to return to Ruhengeri, but they were unsuccessful, that is, in relation to the area of the volcanoes.  

Now, I did not have a clear recollection of the date, but as I read through a number of 
documents ‑‑ what I am saying is that I recall an event, a particular event, but I didn't recall the date, and that event was that the secretary general of the OAU, Mr. Ahmed Salim, came to Ruhengeri, but I did not see him because I was in Kinigi.  I had, however, learnt that the secretary general had come to Ruhengeri, but did not spend more than 30 minutes there.  He had simply come to see the extent of the damage of the attacks of the 23rd to the 24th of January.  I don't know whether that means much.  But as the shells were falling around Ruhengeri, it would appear that he did not spend up to 30 minutes there.  

There is another event which I ‑‑ maybe I do not need to mention because it brings back very sad memories.  But again, indeed, it is at the time when my wife went to ‑‑ put to bed in Ruhengeri.  I was on the field and somebody told me by radio that I had just been the father ‑‑ become the father of a boy, after having had three girls.  It was a time of great joy for me, but I was also in the midst of all the fighting.  So the RPF increased its attacks on Ruhengeri, in Butaro, Kidaho and in the volcanoes.  What happened, therefore, is that I was busy, regularly busy in three sectors.  

In April or May, although there had been a ceasefire, the RPF took advantage of that ceasefire and launched an attack in Kinigi, which we were able to check ‑‑ or, to counter.  And so we decided that in order to wad off all these attacks, we should proceed with an operation to recapture the volcanoes.  So, that was a major operation we put in place.  And the chief ‑‑ or, the general staff made available the resources to conduct such a major operation, which was successful, around May.  And from that time on, we were able to have control of the volcanoes up to the time of the attack of the 8th February 1993.  

From a military point of view, this is very important because the operation to recapture the volcanoes took a significant number of soldiers.  Now, let me say that there were several dimensions to this, 
but ‑‑ maybe I should stop here. 

Q.
General, you referred to the N'sele ceasefire.  N'S‑E‑L‑E, is that what you are referring to, the ceasefire which you mentioned, it is the N'sele ceasefire; right? 

A.
Correct. 

Q.
Now, let us touch on politics briefly. 

Now, General, a protocol agreement between the MRND, the MDR, PSD, the PL, and the PDC of 

7th of April 1992, does that ring a bell? 

A.
These are things that came to my attention from a distance.  You see, it is only later on that I was able to understand these things which I had heard about from a distance because of what I was doing.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

I would like to call on the registrar to please come forward and collect a document. 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Now, General, I would like you to look at this document and tell us whether you have seen this protocol agreement before. 

A.
Yes, Counsel. 

Q.
I would like to hear your remarks on a number of excerpts of ‑‑ from this document which I intend to read.  Please turn with me to page 1, paragraph 1, where it is written "Mindful of the constitution of 


10th June 1992, which gave the president of the republic mandate to manage the transitional period, and that the president of the republic deemed it necessary to involve political forces in the management of this period."

"Mindful of the acceptance of political parties, signatories to this accord to be involved in the management of this transition."  

There is a number of political parties mentioned on page 2, which have provided such acceptance, namely, the Mouvement républican national pour la démocratie et le dévelopment, MRND; the MDR, the PSD, the PDC, and the PL. 

It is my understanding that following the advent of multiparty politics, a protocol agreement was entered into.  And if we look at page 3 of that protocol agreement, we see under paragraph 3, article 1, page 3, that "The following is written to assess and streamline all the administrative services of the state, particularly at préfectural and communal level, organise national defence, as well as diplomatic and consular missions of Rwanda, with a view to ensuring efficiency and neutrality."  

In view of that paragraph 3 of article 1, are you able to recall the rationale of that paragraph? 

A.
Counsel, what is your question about?  Point 2?  

Q.
No, my question is on article 1, paragraph 3, at the top of page 3. 

A.
Well, I think that when a government undertakes to clean up or streamline the administration ‑‑ state administration, that can only be a laudable initiative if it is faithfully carried out.  Very well, but unfortunately, what happened subsequently would be the opposite.  What I am saying is that I do agree with a desire to seek efficiency and a neutral conduct within certain services of the state, such as national defence. 

Q.
Very well.  In article 3, it is stated "That all the signatory parties to this agreement commit themselves to carry out the transition right up to the elections in a democratic spirit and in a spirit of healthy cooperation."  What do you think about that excerpt? 

A.
Counsel, maybe I should make a suggestion to you.  Everything that is found here is laudable.  It is a protocol agreement signed by political parties intending to participate in the government.  It was what happened later that created problems. 

Q.
I understand you, General Bizimungu.  And I know that at that time there was a prime minister who was appointed.  Do you remember the name of that prime minister? 

A.
Subsequent to this agreement, there was the creation of the ‑‑ or, formation of the first government, the Nsanzimana government.  And then the political parties, MDR, PSD, PL and others refused to become a part of the Nsanzimana government.  So they started organising demonstrations and sittings, and this is how come this protocol of the 17th of April was concluded. 

After this protocol agreement was signed by the five parties, the president of the republic appointed a new prime minister, and that is Nsengiyaremye, who formed his government on the 16th of April.  

James Gasana was the minister of national defence in that government in replacement of 

General Ndindiliyimana, who, at the time, was still a colonel. 

Q.
Referring to article 9, it is stated that "The decisions to be taken by the president of the republic and by the prime minister in the implementation of articles 52 and 55 of the constitution shall be made in cabinet meetings."  What is your understanding of this article, that is, in relation to the exercise of power? 

A.
The excerpt speaks for itself.  There is, of course, the notion of power sharing.  I do not know how to describe this.  But if the MDR, PSD, MDC ‑‑ in fact, if only the MDR was there, it means everybody obtained ‑‑ everybody had obtained what they wanted.  So, it was not something that was a family matter.  No one should continue to have all the prerogative that the president had had.  

And in James Gasana's book, given that he was a member of this government, he said that as from 
the 16th of April, no one could talk about Habyarimana's power anymore.  The parties shared the national cake amongst themselves.  The president of the republic could no longer take certain important decisions.  Everything had to be done in cabinet meetings.  I would have wanted also to include this excerpt ‑‑ that excerpt in the evidence, because the security services, for example, were divided between different ministries and departments.  Internal security was the responsibility of the office of the prime minister; external security was the responsibility of MINADEF; and immigration was the responsibility of the ministry of the interior.  The president could no longer appoint préfets, bourgmestre and so on and so forth.  Everything had to be done by the government.  This is, of course, a protocol agreement which was signed.  And in principle, it is supposed to be implemented.  And I am saying 
"in principle" because I did not know what actually happened.  But Gasana said that as from the 16th of April, one could no longer talk about Habyarimana's powers.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Mr. President, could we take the break now?

MR. PRESIDENT:  

In short, Counsel, this is a document which led to collective responsibility.  There was no individual responsibility.  

Is that the position, General?  

THE WITNESS:

Collective responsibility ‑‑ well, I really do not know.  When you talk about responsibility, I am thinking about 6.3 and others.  So I have to understand the legal implication of what you are saying when you talk about collective responsibility. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

What I meant was, it was not only the president who was having all these powers earlier.  Now, he is sharing these powers with other political parties.  And lumped together, they are all responsible over what they do because article 6 says everything has to be implemented through the cabinet.  

Anyway, think about it, we will take a break and come --
THE WITNESS:

Yes, yes.

MR. PRESIDENT:

Court is adjourned for 15 minutes. 

(Court recessed from 1606H to 1624H)
MR. PRESIDENT:  

The Court has resumed. 

Counsel, you may continue.

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

What time do you want to stop today?  

MR. PRESIDENT:

5:30.  

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
General Bizimungu, to your knowledge, what was the programme of that government led by Nsengiyaremye?  What were the government's priorities subsequent to the protocol agreement of 


17th September 1992? 

A.
Counsel, I think the document speaks for itself. 

Q.
I am sorry for that interruption, General.  You were saying that the document is quite eloquent because on page 2 ‑‑ 

A.
Well, you have the first point, which is the first priority, to negotiate peace, provide internal security, and the other point that you elaborated upon.  So, it is a seven‑point programme.  The first is peace negotiations, and the second point is restoration of internal security.  The last points you have organising elections, a solution to the problem of refugees, national conference.  But the first point ‑‑ if the peace could have been negotiated, this would have resolved all the other points.  Because, according to me, these are just corollary points.  Because if you negotiated peace, you would be able to restore internal peace. 

Q.
Now, within that context, that is, if you know ‑‑ are you familiar with the Brussels meeting? 

A.
Yes, that is what I was telling you.  The document itself is a good document.  


Now, the Nsengiyaremye government was commissioned during the month of April, but what were the circumstances?  It was a troubled situation, a situation of disturbances.  You had the political parties.  And I would like to apologise because I don't want to give you the impression that I was on one side or the other.  But the problem was that the new parties which were in opposition to Habyarimana did everything to bring about civil disobedience.  They organised demonstrations.  But you also had the MRND during the multiparty political system, and at that time, not all Rwandans were members of the MRND as before.  

And I have to make a clarification.  The members of the PL and those who were in the MDR were people who had belonged to the MRND, just in the same way as I had been a member of that party.  They took the initiative to create parties.  And I complied with the rules stipulating that I should be apolitical, and so my observations here were made in the capacity of someone keeping abreast of the political developments.  What were politicians doing?  What were they saying?  What were ‑‑ where were they taking us?  And I was not committed to any one of them, either then or now. 

Now, when the government was installed, it was within the context of extreme tension, especially when it came to the partisan members of the elite.  There is what is referred to as Kubohoza, K‑U‑B‑O‑H‑O‑Z‑A.  This was a programme of certain political parties aimed at demobilising members of the MRND.  So people would get up, they go up to one commune, they overthrow the bourgmestre and then designate a bourgmestre from a different party.  Either the bourgmestre or the incumbent bourgmestre says, "Okay, from now on, I belong to your party", or he would be forcefully removed from his position.  This is an example of Kubohoza.  I was not directly experiencing these developments, but sometimes I heard about them, and it was not good for our country.  

So there was this partisan, members of the elite, and then there was extreme competition to ‑‑ between people to position themselves.  So, it was an ideal thing to sign this protocol agreement itself, but it was what happened afterwards that was catastrophic.  

I will give you examples.  There were parties that were opposed to Habyarimana.  And they said, "Mr. Habyarimana, you have proved unable to restore peace in Rwanda.  You have brought about the war, which is only beneficial to you and those close to you.  We are going to put an end to the war by negotiating with the RPF".
So, in the government to which Mr. Ngulinzira became the minister of foreign affairs, pursuant to the first objective, that is, peace negotiations, he began with a diplomatic offensive to try and find international support to negotiate with the RPF.  This is something which, by itself, was very laudable.  And I would like to make a clarification here because there is probably some degree of confusion that arose in people's minds.  At that time, there was no talk of Arusha as yet.  The Arusha process began on the 12th of July.  

Minister Ngulinzira travelled to Uganda and met with President Museveni.  Negotiations were scheduled to take place in Paris during the month of June.  But when the government was formed, people made some statements.  They rushed to make statements.  They said that "We have to have peace."  But in May, the journalist asked Prime Minister Nsengiyaremye:  "You are talking about negotiations with the RPF."  And they listed ‑‑ and he had listed certain points:  "We are going to negotiate with the RPF.  We are going to share power."  And even within that context of power sharing, the armed forces would be merged.  And a journalist asked him:  "Anyone who talks about integration is also talking about demobilisation.  What are you going to do about that?"  And he answered in the Kinyarwanda.  It is difficult to translate.  "The soldiers will go and work in the swamps."  The translation is that the soldiers will go to work in the swamps.  That is the literal translation.  But gushoka refers to cattle, when they go to the mountains.  And then later on, they are taken to a watering hole to drink.  It is said that the cows, gushote, in Kinyarwanda.  So saying that the soldiers would do that is something that was not looked at kindly.  Some of the witnesses talked about it.  What I am saying is that this did not lead to a mutiny by soldiers, but this is an inappropriate statement which might not have been voluntary, but which led to problems.  And that was because, as far as the soldiers were concerned, ever since January the RPF had launched a massive offensive in the Butaro region.  I do not know what was happening in the other sectors.  The other sectors ‑‑ but we were permanently at the front between January and May engaged in high intensity combat.  

So instead of saying that, look, we have a political programme, the minister of defence could have told the soldiers prior to that that, look, with a new government, do not be surprised that certain political measures will have to be taken.  Your mission is to continue to defend the ‑‑ our territorial integrity.  So he should have prepared them psychologically.  It was during a period when the political parties were trying to position themselves.  So those who were opposed to the prime minister would immediately capitalise on his statement to say, "Look, this is what he is saying.  It created problems."  I am not saying that what the prime minister said was actually bad, but it was pejorative, and the time had not yet come for that.  And those who were directly concerned should have been forewarned and sensitised.  

So what I was able to read in Kigali and what I found out in the documents while I was here, is that it was a loaded war between the political parties in Kigali.  It was a catastrophe there between the political parties and the various youth wings of the political parties, and people in government.  We have a new government, we have ministers from various political parties who are now in ministries that were previously headed by people from the MRND.  And, of course, they have to appoint members of their own party ‑‑ or, transform MRND members to be members of their own party, or dismiss some people.  Some who were dismissed did not want to leave their office, and so on and so forth.  

Mr. President, that is my answer to the question that was put to me.  And I would like to answer the question that you put to me before the break; namely, in terms of government solidarity or responsibility.  

Now, was the protocol not, in fact, introducing government solidarity or common responsibility?  This is unfortunately the situation that arose, as I have just explained to you.  The government ‑‑ some members of the government, maybe not all of them ‑‑ and I am not saying that members of the government of the MDR or the MRND were ‑‑ what I am saying is that the tendency was to serve the interests of their party rather than common responsibility, and that benefited the enemy.  Of course, our enemy, the RPF, took advantage of that and saw that opening and overwhelmed us. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT:

I would like three documents to be shown to General Bizimungu.  

Mr. Registrar, please.

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
General, three documents would be placed before you.  The first one relates to the Brussels meeting, which others have referred to as the Brussels treaties of the 31st of May 1992.  It is a document of the 31st May, and the document is written on Hôtel Delta paper ‑‑ letterhead.  The second document is a SITREP ‑‑ a declassified document from the US ambassador in Kigali to the American security of state of 8th June 1992.  And the third document is an excerpt of page 112 to 114 of James Gasana's book entitled "Rwanda from party state to a military state."  

Let us now look at those documents, General, beginning with the document of the 31st of May 1992.  Are you familiar with that document written on Hôtel Delta notepad beginning with "Dear friends"?  Have you already seen this document before?  

A.
I first saw this document here at UNDF.  But from the time these discussions were going on in Brussels, everybody was talking about them in Rwanda, particularly in political circles.  

Now, Counsel, speaking of the Brussels meeting, let me say that there was an official document issued at the end of that meeting, that is, the three political parties which met the RPF in Brussels, namely, the MDR, the PSD, and another political party, and these parties released an official communiqué ‑‑ an official document.  That is one thing.  But now, you have placed before me a document from Mugenzi.  Two days ago I asked him whether he used this document in his own case, and he said, "No", but he is the one who authored this document from Brussels to his friends in Rwanda, telling them of what was going on. 

So the official position about Brussels was to fight against the MRND, but officiously.  There was a specific programme being developed with a view to overthrow Habyarimana and what was referred to as his dictatorial regime. 

Q.
Thank you, General.  

Now, let us look at the document of the 8th of June 1992.  You have received a copy in English.  It's an unclassified document.  I will read a few excerpts from it, and I would like to hear your reaction thereafter, within the context of what you have just stated to the Court. 

I am referring to the document of the 8th of June 1992 from the US ambassador in Kigali.  On page 1, that document states the following.  The last ‑‑ the five sentences at the bottom of the page.  "... of help means essentially, pressing Habyarimana to abdicate, to retreat to a ceremonial role as president.  Mungezi's strategy will bypass the protocol signed by the multiparty government before elections ‑‑ the fair elections and bring the RPF into the government, all based on the ceasefire line totally inside Rwanda."  

And I proceed on to page 5 of the same document, item number 11.  "... Upset with the RPF attack on Byumba, simply noting that one will have to expect similar attacks and even atrocities committed by the guerrillas until a ceasefire is finally agreed on."  

And the last five words on page 5.  "More typical of his speeches on the stamp (sic) than his conversation with me in the past, Mugenzi said the president will have to accept the conditions, including the changes in the constitution, or they will have to remove him forcefully from office, even if it costs hundreds of casualties."  He said "The president is not permitting the government to govern, and that in these circumstances, it is better to bring the government down, rather than to waste their time with the president who continues as a dictator." 

General, you have heard the excerpts I have read.  What are your comments on Mugenzi's recommendations as conveyed by the American ambassador? 

A.
At that time the situation was so awful, that it was difficult even to believe that reasonable people could hold such positions.  Let me put before you a few examples of things that I heard myself, and I wondered where we were headed.  

At the time when mines were proliferating across the country, and whereas those mines were known to have been planted by the RPF, Mugenzi had a meeting somewhere and said that mines should continue to be placed in Rwambura, but not in ‑‑ rather, in Rwambura, which is where Mugenzi hails from, R‑W‑A‑M‑B‑U‑R‑A.  Rwambura is Habyarimana's native village which has a Catholic parish.  And Mugenzi was asking for mines to be planted there.  

Now, why would a politician say, "Rather than bomb Bugesera, you should bomb another location in the same country"?  That is the president of a political party making such a statement.  That is, indeed, deplorable, but that is what was happening.  That is what held sway at that time, and that is how he made these types of statements to the American ambassador.  It is good for the RPF to join the government, I believe.  It would be a good thing for an opposition to be in place, but the purpose must be to provide peace for the population.  So when one calls for a solution with one hand, and takes it away with the other hand, that is most unfortunate. 

Q.
General, let me read a few excerpts from James Gasana's book on pages 112 and 113.  And I will also read a short excerpt from page 113.  

Please turn with me to page 112, in which Gasana talks about the joint communiqué between the MDR, PSD and the PL.  And they were jointly referred to as the FDC; is that correct?  

A.
Yes, as well as the RPF. 

Q.
This is what the document says.  "From 29th of May, Friday, to the 3rd of June 1992, the democratic forces for change, comprising the MDR, the PSD, the PL, met the RPF in Brussels to conduct important discussions on the political future of the country, as well as the return of sustainable peace in Rwanda.  Discussions took place in an atmosphere of frankness, sincerity and goodwill, as could be seen on the part of all parties, including the political parties, namely, MDR, PL and PSD, and the RPF, which agreed on the following points."  

Let us look, particularly, at point 2, that is, the second point on which agreement was reached.  The MDR, PL, PSD and parties ‑‑ and the RPF agreed on the need for an effective ceasefire to be in place between the Rwandan government army and the RPF, to be followed promptly by negotiation between the two parties, the negotiation of which will not be subject to any prior conditions.  Are we together?  

A.
Yes.

Q.
Okay.  Let me move on two paragraphs further down. 

"During that meeting Twagiramungu" ‑‑ spelling T‑W‑A‑G‑I‑R‑A‑M‑U‑N‑G‑U -- "held a position which indicated that the opposition no longer gave priority to democratic approaches as a method to come to power and totally adopted the strategy chosen by the RPF to overthrow the government by the force of weapons, and agrees with the position to overthrow Habyarimana."  

This is the position that Twagiramungu puts before journalists at the RTBF, in a press conference following the meeting with the RPF, bringing the opinion ‑‑ the international community to think that Habyarimana no longer supports the peace negotiations.  "It is obvious that President Habyarimana as a dictator ‑‑ and as a dictator will" -- and that is the word he used -- "he does not intend to hand over power, either -- democratically, as the process has already been underway in Rwanda, but if Mr. Habyarimana were to decide for peace in Rwanda, there will be peace in Rwanda.  I, therefore, do not fear to clearly state to you that President Habyarimana is a major obstacle in the way of peace and in the violation and absence of peace in Rwanda." 

Let me read on, and I will ask you to a comment after I finish.  In reaction to the statement by the MDR president, Ngulinzira, spelt N‑G‑U‑L‑I‑N‑Z‑I‑R‑A, minister of foreign affairs, speaking about his own party and who was in Brussels at the same time, made the following statement to the journalists, saying that, "Habyarimana had given his full support to the government and to the peace negotiations on which there was total agreement.  The least that can be said about the Brussels meeting is that it irremediably ‑‑ or, irrevocably destroys national cohesion and sets the stage for the serious problems that followed, and it confirms the opposition's naive assessment of the RPF.  The opposition would like to benefit from the war efforts of the RPF without shedding the blood of its own members.  It is a contrary approach to negotiations which can only further polarise the process even up to the end, at which time the Arusha Accord was signed."

Now, if we turn to page 114 of James Gasana's document, the last 15 lines of that page states the following:  "The Brussels meeting would be interpreted differently by several who already question it.  The fact that it was held just before the Byumba attack is a matter of polemics that has serious consequences on the political polarisation of the country.  Some have referred to the meeting as a betrayal of the country, to the extent that the extremists are even revisiting their definition of the enemy.  For them, the worst enemy is that one who has sold the country over to the RPF on the Brussels market.  They do not understand the coincidence between that meeting and the RPF attack on Byumba." 

"As if to speak of such a treason or betrayal, Mr. Twagiramungu, president of the MDR ‑‑ or, chairman of the MDR states that even if the RPF were to control all of the ‑‑ all of Byumba, that would not be a problem because the RPF combatants are our brothers.  That statement seems to support the absurd position of those who referred to the RPF war as legitimate.  And coming from the political leader of a significant party, this was ‑‑ this did not sit well with our brothers and sisters who are living in shame camps and under conditions of undeserved insecurity as displaced persons." 

Now, General Bizimungu, within the context of the explanations you have provided and within the legitimacy of the programme that you have referred to as the government programme, how do you react to the fact that three parties belonging to this government would meet in Brussels and make the types of statements that I have just read out to you? 

A.
Let me begin by pointing out that Mr. Mugenzi, whose statement you have read, is currently here.  Mr. Twagiramungu, who also made statements, is in exile in Brussels, and he trying to set up an opposition against the RPF government, and he had been prime minister after the RPF victory.  There are two situations here.  There was a war which had to be managed, or prosecuted, by political leaders. And if they did that in the way that that is indicated here, it was the enemy that benefitted absolutely. 

Yes, Mugenzi was a president of a political party represented in the government.  Twagiramungu was also the president of a political party which had provided the prime minister for that government.  I am not a politician, I am a layman, but I cannot imagine how a political party represented in the government together with the MRND ‑‑ and they know that Habyarimana also has a political force.  Instead of resolving problems together, they had programmes that are divergent and not consistent with the protocol accords.  So, if I were the RPF, I would continue pulling the strings.  And that is what they did right up until their final victory. 
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BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Now, if we come back to the document of the 31st of May 1992, written with the Hotel Delta letterhead and if I refer you to the last, but one page, which talks about actions according to Mugenzi that has to be undertaken to destroy the doctorial  machinery of Habyarimana.  And this is what he has to say. this appears in the last part of the document, fourth line:  "Destruction of the dictatorial machinery or structure from the common base – or, rather from the base communes, préfectures, administration, army, security.  And the text continues."  This is briefly what is being said here.  The atmosphere is very fraternal and civilised. 

Now, within the basis of this communiqué General, the strategy seems to be that in order to bring down Habyarimana, it would also be necessary to attack and destroy the dictatorial structures from the grassroots,  communes, préfectures, administration and army which directly concerns you, as well as, security.  My question is as follows: Did these statements made during that Brussels’ meeting, did they have an effect within the army?  Did they have an effect on your subordinates? 

A.
Personally, I was occupied at the front in Ruhengeri.  We really did not feel the impact of Brussels.  What really affected us was the statement of the prime minister regarding soldiers going to work in the swamps.  The Brussels` declaration had not yet been widely publicised.  When the attack on Byumba took place on the 5th of June 1992, after that attack ‑‑ let me spell Byumba.  B‑Y‑U‑M‑B‑A.  Butaro is B‑U‑T‑A‑R‑O.  So the Byumba attack took place at the same time as the attack against Butaro.  And when Byumba was attacked, I was occupied in the attack against Butaro, so we did not immediately follow what was being said.  It was only, subsequently, that we heard everything that had been said.  And so when Twagiramungu said that even if Byumba was completely taken, this was extreme.  The members of the public were being killed.  They were fleeing, and yet it was this attack which actually led to the displacement of my family.  And since I was occupied at Butaro, I had still managed to receive information that members of my family had been killed.  And so I asked the general staff to give me leave to go and see what was happening there, particularly since in my sector, we had managed to quickly stabilise the front.  It was when I went to Byumba to look for my family members that I heard that Twagiramungu had said there wouldn’t be any problem even if Byumba was overrun or occupied, because they were also our brothers.  This was complicated and people were dying.  

Q.
We are going to talk about that when we come to dead bodies, but if you talk about brothers in the midst of dead bodies.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

(Inaudible) because these are all prior to Arusha Accords even prior to starting of the negotiations.  DELTA document is 35; May 1992, so this is prior to the Arusha Accords.  Why are you leading this evidence to show what?  Was (inaudible) known to this Court as to how it happened and the witnesses have spoken about this, and why are you leading it through this witness in his defence because this is all prior to Arusha Accords.  

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

The context, Mr. President, is fundamental.  If, for example, accusations were made against someone and then there was no war started by the RPF, we wouldn't be talking about it.  We are talking about the context of the RPF war, political instability.   And the most important point is the consequences on the army, as well as, the consequences on the role played by the accused person here, the consequence of all that.  In relation to your accusations, Mr. President, is very important.  The context is crucial.  One cannot determine the guilty or innocent of people without looking at the context from which they came.  
At that time General Bizimungu was ops commander or Ruhengeri.  He had to prosecute a war.  He had to manage troops, and it has been said that as early as 1990, his intentions had been made known.  All these are elements that concern him.  So in order to validly defend himself, he also has to describe the circumstances under which he worked.  He was commander of Ruhengeri ops secteur.  He had soldiers under his command.  So given the circumstances prevailing at the time, what did he have to do precisely?  I do not want to waste the Court’s time, but I hope it is necessary.  I believe it is necessary that the Court should be enlightened regarding the context because it is based on that, that the Prosecution is trying to convince the Court of his intentions to become involved in the genocide.  The Prosecutor talked about the presence of Bizimungu in meetings, whereas, he was elsewhere occupied, doing something else.  So, I believe the Court can compare those various versions, and it is necessary ‑‑ it is essential to provide this context in which Bizimungu found himself and that is fundamental to his defence. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Counsel, most of this material is available to court and we know how Bizimungu started, and he has (inaudible).  We know how the progress he had in the military.  Now, these are the other materials that you are now leading, is more prior to Arusha and the political development which he says he was following from a distance.  So, you must show material which is relevant to his defence, so we know this kind of thing.  Since it is available, you will be able to comment on this in your closing arguments. All this material is all available.  This Delta was also referred to through some other witnesses, Delta document.  That is why I say you must select the areas which are favourable to you and lead it.  Anyway, I am just telling you my observations.  These are all materials and we know that he says he was supporting Arusha Accords.  So, Arusha Accords, negotiations for Arusha Accords, start long after this document.  As he says, it was from May/June 1992. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Yes.  One of the elements I have just read ‑‑ in fact, I don't want to argue for argument’s sake.  It shows that there are consequences in practical terms for Bizimungu who was ops commander.  There are these three parties that were represented in the government who made an appeal to destroy Habyarimana.  And how do you destroy Habyarimana?  You destroy his army.  So this means that this directly concerns the army and the Accused occupied an important position in the army.  So the question that I am asking now, has to indicate whether to his knowledge those statements by Mugenzi speaking on behalf of the three parties represented in the government did this have any effect in the army, and, specifically, on the subordinates of Bizimungu, Ruhengeri ops commander.  If the answer is, yes, then it means it has a direct consequence on the Prosecution allegation that is conspiracy to commit genocide, because the Prosecutor has been trying to give evidence to the effect that the conspiracy started as early as 1990, and he has tried to justify this.  And during the presentation of evidence relating to conspiracy which covers six pages in the indictment, you have allowed that that evidence be given.  And this is the evidence that I want to counter during this direct examination of General Bizimungu.  

I respectfully submit, Mr. President, if my client was accused or something else, then we would have finished with this shortly, but it is his life that is in balance that is why we are including this evidence.  Mr. President ‑‑ 

BY MR. ST‑LAURENT:

Q.
Or rather, Mr. Witness, to proceed.  This statement by the FDC to the extent that Habyarimana be destroyed from the grassroots, did this have any concrete impact? 

A.
Well, let me try to respond briefly.  The Prosecutor said that there was a letter signed by the G‑2 of the Rwandan army.  He talked about that letter.  I am not an author of that letter, but in his evidence he presented that letter to several witnesses.  This was a confidential letter addressed to the chief of staff, and in that letter the G‑2 transmits some information.  This is a confidential letter which is secret, and later on when things deteriorated, this letter was used publicly.  So that letter of the 27th of July has its origin.  All those events that happened ever since the commissioning of the government on the 17th of April.  That is the importance; otherwise another process can be used to show you that in any case there were changes.  There were developments in the conceptions of people.  We were talking about the beginning of the Nsengiyaremye government and things changed but at the political level things also changed differently because it was Brussels that was practically at of the source of the splits.  The splits in the various parties and that made it difficult later on to implement the Arusha Peace Accords.  This is the genesis and that is Brussels. So in a nutshell that is the way it can be understood. 

Q.
Now, let us move directly to those Arusha negotiations.  Some time ago you said that efforts had to be made to avoid confusion when talking about the negotiations that led to the Arusha Accords.  Now following the Brussels meeting and the statements made, did the Arusha negotiations begin at that time? 

A.
No, they started on the 12th of July and at that time the word Arusha did not exist within the Rwandan context.  

Q.
So as from July 1992, the negotiations for peace agreements started during this period.  That is, in July 1992 what was the general perception regarding those negotiations, as far as you know? 

A.
Well, people abused words because at that time we were talking about the Arusha Accords and the Prosecutor has said that you were against the Arusha Accords whereas the Accords had not yet been negotiated.  On the 12th of July, they were signed.  I believe the negotiations began on the 8th or 10th of July 1992.  On the 12th, a cease‑fire agreement was signed.  That is after the fighting in Ruhengeri, Byumba and Mutara, and that is a prerequisite for the negotiations.  Unfortunately, people would refer to that as the Arusha peace agreement.  And at one point the Prosecutor said that Nsengiyumva wrote a letter that people were against the Arusha Accords.  Arusha had not yet been negotiated at that time. 

Q.
Now, what was the perception in relation to the negotiations which were actually beginning at that time?  How did people feel about the beginning of those negotiations, as far as you know? 

A.
What characterised the general situation in Rwanda were the partisan members of the elite.  It is alleged that Minister Ngurizira made many concessions even been the beginning of negotiations.  But this is something I experienced myself, and that is that on the 12th of July the cease‑fire was signed.  It had to be preceded by a truth.  And a cease‑fire was to come into effect on the 31st of July 1992, but in the meantime, the RPF launched a massive attack against the eastern part of Ruhengeri, and it conquered the entire Butaro commune and part of the Kero commune.  I was at the front.  I was the secteur commander at that time.  We had difficulties because soldiers were telling us after we had told them that the RPF was attacking us, they would respond, look, secteur commander, you are telling us to fight, but the politicians are telling us to put an end to the war.  So who are we going to obey?  In any case the cease‑fire came into force and the negotiations continued in Arusha as from August 1992. 

Q.
Sorry.  I will be quoting certain witnesses.  Is it exaggerated to say that during this period there was a certain level of discontent amongst the soldiers with regard to the negotiations? 

A.
No, where I was, we were completely involved in combat, so I am not aware of what happened.  The only reaction I have is from those soldiers who said; "Look, the government is saying that they are bringing peace and I am asking them to fight."  So I told them that the RPF was attacking us and if we did not fight we would have to leave Ruhengeri.  We were going to retreat up to where?  And that at one point we would have to flee the country, that is what I was telling them.  So our situation, in fact, was ambiguous, and we had this feeling about our politicians, because they are was a chaos.  There was a policy, but that policy had to be explained to those responsible for implementing it.  Were the soldiers supposed to sit down and say to themselves, ah, the government is negotiating, so we are no longer going to fight.  But the enemy had its programme and the government had to face up to the armed enemy.  So those were the difficulties that we had, otherwise talking about the discontents regarding Arusha negotiations.  Where I was, I could not keep abreast of them. 

MR. ST‑LAURENT: 

Mr. President, can we adjourn now because you said 5:30.  I can even continue to 8:00 or 9 p.m., if you wish.  This is just an attempted joke, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT: 
No, you will do that tomorrow. 

MR. VAN:  
It looks like there's no democracy here. 

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. Bizimungu, you are in the witness box now, so you are a witness of court now, so you must not speak to anybody about your testimony.  I am just reminding you that.  

THE WITNESS:

Well understood, Mr. President.  

MR. PRESIDENT:

Mr. St‑Laurent, you will be starting with the other witness tomorrow.  It will be a short witness.  Thereafter we will continue with Mr. Bizimungu.  

Court is adjourned until 9:00 tomorrow.

(Court adjourned at 1730H)
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